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1. Company introduction  

 

GEVORKYAN, a.s. was founded as a family company in Banská Bystrica  

in 1996. Its founder and current majority shareholder is an aeronautical engineer  

Dipl. Ing. Artur Gevorkyan, originally Armenian, who built the company "on a green field". 

GEVORKYAN, Inc. builds on the experience of two generations of the family  

in the field of powder metallurgy.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Today, it is a leader in powder metallurgy within Europe and one of the most innovative 

companies in this sector worldwide. The company is a manufacturer of various types of 

components using powder metallurgy (PM) and metal injection moulding (MIM) technologies for 

the automotive, petroleum, cosmetics and agricultural industries, hand tools, locks and security 

systems, healthcare, air-conditioning and defence industries. The company does not have a 

branch abroad.  

 

 

 

 

 

Metal parts, manufactured in GEVORKYAN, a.s. 

1977 - Robert Gevorkyan starts a powder metallurgy plant in the Urals 
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1.1. Awards 
 

GEVORKYAN, a.s. is the holder of many prestigious Slovak and international awards, such as: 

"Diamonds of Slovak Business" in the category of the most dynamically growing company in 

2012, 2013, 2019 and 2022 

 

Exceptional Company 2020" TÜV SÜD awarded GEVORKYAN, a.s. Certificate of Excellence for its 

contribution in promoting innovation. 

In 2018, GEVORKYAN, a.s. received the highest award from the European Powder Metallurgy 

Association (EPMA) during the international trade fair in the Netherlands: the absolute victory in 

the "EPMA Component Awards 2018 - Structural Parts Category", which focuses on the most 

innovative solutions in the field of powder metallurgy with a significant contribution to cost 

savings, quality improvement, encouragement to further use of PM, uniqueness, originality and 

new ideas.  
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Among other things, GEVORKYAN, a.s. distinguishes itself from other manufacturing companies 

by a higher proportion of employees with higher education - up to one third of employees have 

achieved an engineering or master's degree, while 6 of them have achieved a doctorate degree 

(PhD.) 

"Fachmetall QM Context Award" from the specialist trade fair  

for powder metallurgy in Switzerland. GEVORKYAN, a.s. was the only company from the EU and 

the first company in the history of powder metallurgy to receive this award. 

"National Champion, National Public Champion" and "Ruban´d Honneur" in the European 

Business Awards 2016/2017, which for ten years has focused on the most innovative companies 

on the old continent by promoting their success, innovation and ethics. The main sponsor is RSM 

International, the sixth largest network of independent audit, tax and advisory firms in the world. 

 

"Factory of the Year" from the Fraunhover Institute and EXIM Bank Slovakia for a progressive 

business model 
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"National Award of the Slovak Republic for Quality and Social Responsibility 2023" as the most 

successful organization that has been evaluated according to European recognized criteria during 

the year and has demonstrated that quality and social responsibility is a priority for the company 

in every area of its operations.  

 

"Crystal Wing 2024" in the Economy category. The event is organized under the auspices of the 

President of the Slovak Republic and annually recognizes individuals who inspire the whole country with 

their talent, commitment and results and spread our good name in the world. 

 

"TREND TOP Manager of the Year 2024" award for outstanding business results. Artur Gevorkyan 

was declared the winner in the Manager of the Year category in a vote of Slovak business 

personalities, TREND editorial staff, partners of individual categories and readers. 

"Slovakia Best Managed Companies 2024" - DELOITTE programme 

recognizing leading Slovak privately owned and managed 

companies representing the highest standards of quality and 

performance. 

 

GEVORKYAN, a.s.'s operations and activities are available on its website at  

http://www.gevorkyan.sk/
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1.2. Quality, stock market presence and investment 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

              Part of the R&D department in the analysis of new projects   

 

In recent years, the company has successfully passed several customer audits and has become a 

global supplier to large multinational companies operating manufacturing plants around the 

world. 

In order to secure long-term growth in 2016, a decision was taken to accept funding from the 

investor companies Jeremie Co-Investment Fund, represented by Limerock Fund Manager, and 

BHS Fund II - Private Equity, in the form of mezzanine financing with a six-year maturity. Each of 

these companies acquired a 3.5% interest in GEVORKYAN, Inc. in 2016 

GEVORKYAN, a.s. is the first Slovak SME company to issue public bonds on the Bratislava Stock 

Exchange. Securities issued by the company do not have limited transferability. 

The financial statements for the year 2024 were audited by Ernst & Young Slovakia, spol. s r.o., 

license SKAU No. 257. 

On 16.11.2021 the related company GEVORKYAN CZ, s.r.o. successfully issued bonds worth € 30 

million, which are publicly traded on the Prague Stock Exchange and the funds were provided to 

GEVORKYAN, a.s. in the form of a loan.  

In 2014, the company employed 190 employees and generated sales of approximately EUR 17 

million. Over the next 8 years, thanks mainly to the aforementioned automation, the company 

has managed to streamline production and reduce jobs, especially those with lower added value. 

In 2024, the company achieved sales of almost 76 million euros with even fewer employees: 170. 
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Own nitrogen and hydrogen generator 

In 2014, the company created its own automation and digitalization centre to ensure long-term 

competitiveness regardless of the expected growth in labour costs in Slovakia. Investments were 

made in machinery to make production more efficient, expand the portfolio, and absorb new 

orders that came in thanks to the crisis. Powder metallurgy is an economically efficient 

production and in combination with the location of production in a technically advanced and 

affordable country such as Slovakia, it ensures the long-term stability of the company. 

In recent years, regular investments have been made in robotization. Robotic workstations, 

completely developed by our company, replace entire teams of operators and allow continuous 

operation. A significant part of the investment is directed towards simulation software, 

information systems, online communication, and the digitisation of all processes in the company 

so that the company can operate flexibly.  
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In May 2022, the legal form was changed to a joint stock company. In June 2022 GEVORKYAN, 

a.s., as the first foreign company, entered the START market of the Prague Stock Exchange. It 

received approximately €27.5 million from investors, which is being invested to expand 

production and increase capacity so that the company can serve more clients more quickly. This 

is the largest issue on the START market to date.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. Structure of the shareholders and organs of the company  
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The company has the following bodies - General Assembly, Board of Directors and Supervisory 

Board.  The sole member of the Board of Directors and its Chairman is Artur Gevorkyan. The 

members of the Supervisory Board are: Andrej Bátovský, Robert Gevorkyan and Denisa Kvasnová.  

The General Meeting of the Company was held on 10.12.2024 at the registered office of the 

Company at 504 Továrenská Street in Vlkanová. All information and documents related to the 

General Meeting are available on the Company's website in the Important Links - For Investors 

section.  

The company's strategy is determined and implemented by the company's majority shareholder 

Artur Gevorkyan, an aerospace engineer who has worked on the development of composite 

materials for military aviation.  

He is the owner of several patents and the holder of the know-how on which the company's 

development is based. His years of hard work to achieve his goal and his unusual entrepreneurial 

story have been rewarded  

in the finals of the "Entrepreneur of the Year" competitions 2011, 2012, 2019 and 2024. 

GEVORKYAN, a.s. is also a related party of GPM Tools, s.r.o. (Gevorkyan Powder Metallurgy Tools), 

which specializes in the production of moulds for powder metallurgy and is the only toolmaker 

in Central Europe in this field at all 
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3. Organisational structure and employment  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

At the end of 2024, the company employed a total of 170 employees, 10% of whom worked in 

the development department. It provides attractive and stable jobs for skilled workers with 

relevant education. The company has a multinational team. The key managers have experience 

in different industries.  

 

Our main objective in the field of human resources management is the development and 

stabilisation of human capital. Through employee development and career growth 

opportunities, we increase employee motivation. Applying the principle of fair remuneration, 

preventing and avoiding discrimination is extremely important to us. 

As of 31 December 2024, the company had 170 employees, of which 62  were women and 108 

were men. Their average age was 37 years.  

The company guarantees every employee the rights arising from the employment relationship 

without any restrictions, in accordance with legal standards, including in the area of personal 

data protection. GEVORKYAN, a.s. creates equal conditions for self-realization of different 

groups of employees also in terms of gender and age, taking into account education, 

qualification and work experience. 

 

The exceptionally broad spectrum of the company's social programme covers the real needs of 

employees, from material assistance during long-term sick leave, maternity leave, through 

refinancing of accommodation costs, transport, contributions for recovery procedures, stays, 

etc. 

 

39 % of employees with a university degree 
6 staff with PhD degrees  
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In 2024, the company continued its special program to support young and talented employees, 

for whom the company reimburses university studies, education and various professional 

training and courses (foreign language training), and the provision of long-term loans (up to 30 

years) for the purchase of an apartment, a house or the overhaul of an existing property.   

 

Great emphasis is placed on continuous training of employees. All engineers and designers 

attend international trade fairs, and in addition they attend annual training courses and 

technical training in powder metallurgy in various countries around the world. Experts from 

supplier companies are also invited to regularly organised in-house training sessions to present 

new developments in materials, production technology and machinery. 

 

Regular meetings with interesting personalities from the business environment, such as Ján 

Košturiak (INOVATO) or Ivo Toman, are an integral part of the company's operation. At the same 

time, the company's original principles are presented at trainings, conferences, meetings, 

seminars and international scientific conferences (e.g. Ministry of Foreign Affairs, IPA Slovakia, 

Happy Company, Management Live, ZMPS, TUZVO, etc.). 

 

The company cooperates with the Slovak Chamber of Commerce and Industry (SOPK) and the 

Austrian-Slovak Chamber of Commerce (DSIHK - Deutsch Slowakische Industrie-und 

Handelskammer) especially in organizing conferences and excursions focused on the company's 

technologies, whose guests are both foreign and Slovak entrepreneurs. Cooperation with the 

Technical University in Zvolen, Žilina Technical University, Technical University in Košice, 

Armed Forces Academy of Gen. M. R. Štefánik in Liptovský Mikuláš and Matej Bel University, 

with whom GEVORKYAN, a.s. plans to expand from excursions and lectures of Slovak and 

foreign students to supervising the final theses of final year students who will solve real 

problems of production and development.  

 

Professional training and, above all, the practical application of acquired knowledge is crucial in 

society. The promotion of dual training is a natural part of the company's policy. On the basis of 

cooperation with the Technical University of Zvolen, students go through all departments, from 

development to production, where they verify their knowledge in practice. 
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Students from the Armed Forces Academy of Gen. M. R. Štefánik on an excursion and tour of the 

production hall in GEVORKYAN, a.s. 

 

 

The company was awarded the Inspirational Project label in the Via Bona Slovakia 2014 

competition, category "Great Employer". 

In 2016 it was awarded as "Healthy Company of the Year" by the health insurance company  

for its significant contribution to the health care of its employees, and 2018 marked its 4th place 

in the Manufacturing Companies category in the next edition of this competition.  
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The company also provides its employees with opportunities for 

leisure activities, which are important in building a positive working 

environment and team, such as sports days for employees and their 

families, Christmas cabbage soup, traditional Hron River rafting, 

visits to shelters, orphanages and many others.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Activities, visions and plans of GEVORKYAN, a.s.  
 

GEVORKYAN, a.s. has been operating on the market for 29 years and has been successfully 

meeting the expectations of its customers using its long experience in the field. The company is 

the owner of the know-how. The development department employs 18 engineers who develop 

around 200 new products per year. It works on the development of new materials and 

technologies with research institutes in Sweden and Germany.  

It is a development supplier for most of its customers. The vast majority of products are 

developed in-house. It is the sole supplier for almost 100% of its customers. It is regularly 

approached by customers interested in developing products that are not available on the market. 

In this way, it has achieved world uniqueness in products that no one else in the world has yet 

produced by powder metallurgy.       

Due to the uniqueness of the production processes and products offered, the company has 

established strong business contacts both on the material supply and sales side. 

Currently the company provides products to its customers in more than 30 countries around the 

world from Brazil, Mexico, USA, all over Europe to Israel, China and India. 

The company's products can be found in a variety of automobiles from Dacia to Mercedes, as well 

as in exclusive brands such as Porsche, Bentley; in branded cosmetics such as Versace, Hugo Boss; 

hand tools for the general public and professionals such as Black & Decker, Bosch and Dewalt; in 

agricultural equipment such as John Deere, Deutz, Komatsu; in the oil and medical industry... The 

company's latest projects are for fully robotic cars, modern trains, aerospace, drones and civilian 

weapons. The expansion into new markets and the significant diversification of production are 

evidenced by the contracts recently concluded with companies from various sectors 

Employees of the company  
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In 2019, a separate 3D printing department was created. The new sector called Additive 

Manufacturing (AM), which is part of powder metallurgy, is currently in the spotlight. 

GEVORKYAN, Inc. believes that the time of intensive use of Additive Manufacturing (AM) 

technology is yet to come and will be used not only in the aerospace industry, medicine, but also 

in robotics. The company plans to develop this technology gradually. Currently GEVORKYAN, Inc. 

uses this technology mainly for the production of spare parts for very expensive machines, in 

order to eliminate the long waiting time for spare parts from the production of the machine, 

which normally takes several weeks.  

 

 

In 2020, the company launched a new high-speed quenching line for mass production, which is 

specific in that it can quench special powder metallurgy composite materials. It is also unique that 

GEVORKYAN, a.s. cooperated on the development and production together with a German 

manufacturer. The result of the cooperation is a unique line for high-temperature hardening (up 

to 1050 °C) in the whole territory of the Czech Republic and Slovakia.  
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Over the past period, the company has successfully passed customer audits from new automotive 

customers based in Europe and the USA, as well as from hand tool manufacturers in Japan and 

Germany. Cooperation with the Oil & Gas segment as well as with companies producing weapons 

and ammunition has been significantly expanded. This and much more helps to plan the 

company's strategy for the coming years and brings several years of concrete projects in the short 

term.  

 

5. Strategy of GEVORKYAN, a. s.  
 

The company's strategy is based on ensuring the long-term growth and development of the 

company. It is formed where one technology is ending and another is not yet beginning - at the 

interface of different technologies. The company's uniqueness lies in the combination of powder 

metallurgy (PM), metal injection molding (MIM), high-temperature isostatic pressing (HIP), and 

additive manufacturing (AM) 3D printing. These 4 technologies under one roof make 

GEVORKYAN, Inc. a European unique.  

The company's products are not strictly linked to only one industry sector. Parts are supplied to 

the automotive, hand tools, locks and protection systems, cosmetic, medical, agricultural and 

petroleum industries.  

It is a flexible company that does not sell products, but solutions for customers.  

50% of the company's products have never before been produced by powder metallurgy 

technology anywhere in the world.  

The company passed a rigorous certification process in 2022 and is officially certified as a medical 

device manufacturer and HSE according to ISO 45001:2018. 

Company's revenue forecast for 2025 

In early 2024, the company recorded higher order volume, which was mainly due to an increase 
in demand for products manufactured using PM technology. The increased demand is primarily 
due to customers' desire for savings and thus their focus on new technologies that allow them to 
reduce costs as is the case with PM technology. The increase in orders due to a similar reason was 
experienced by the company in the context of the crisis in 2008-2009. The company expects an 
increase in revenue compared to 2024 

Moreover, during this crisis a new global trend has emerged - the European industry is trying to 
cut itself off from Asian suppliers, which opens the door for GEVORKYAN, a.s. to new business 
opportunities within the European and American market.  
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6. Impact of the company's activities on the environment 
 

Health and safety at work, together with the environment, are among society's most important 

values. Respect for the environment and the will to continue this development is demonstrated 

by the fact that the company employs highly qualified professionals responsible for health, safety 

at work and the environment. More than 90% of the company's waste is recycled or reused, 

reducing the negative impact on the environment. 

 

The company's experts are constantly working to make the use of natural resources more 

efficient. Heat from production processes is also used to heat the company's premises in winter. 

Another project for the coming year is the installation of heat recuperators to use waste heat 

from the compressor station to heat the domestic water and office space 

The company is certified for the environmental management system according to STN EN ISO 

14001:2016. In 2022, the company successfully passed the recertification audit, the next one is 

scheduled for 2025.  

The Company does not provide other non-financial information on the development, actions, 

position and impact of the entity's activities on environmental, social and employment issues, 

information on respect for human rights and information on the fight against corruption and 

bribery as it does not meet the requirement on the number of employees specified in section 

20(9) of the Accounting Act. 

 

7. Economic indicators and financial situation  
 

Business name of the company  GEVORKYAN, a.s. 

Headquarters  
Factory 504 
Vlkanová 976 31  

Day of registration in the commercial register 20.1.1997 

Legal form  Joint stock  

Subject of activity  Activities in the field of powder metallurgy  
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8. Risks to the company's future development  
 

To date, there are no significant risks that could materially jeopardise the Company's 

operations.  

Threats are managed by risk analysis. One of the most effective tools is FMEA (Failure Mode and 

Effects Analysis) to uncover risks. In addition, the company has a regular risk analysis of each 

process, which is broken down in process cards, along with risk assessment, corrective actions 

and analysis of the effectiveness of corrective actions.   

The financing of the operation was spread over 2 main financing banks. Each of them financed 

its own group of customers/projects.  

In order to increase the elimination of the risk of a shortfall in the supply of basic materials for 

production, a programme of diversification of suppliers of metal powders was implemented. 

Backup power supplies were also installed for the CNC machine control units. 

To reduce the risk of non-payment of invoices by customers, GEVORKYAN, a.s. extended its 

cooperation with the Atradius insurance company to the insurance of receivables and analysis 

of business partners. 

Contracts for product liability insurance have also been extended. 

There have been no events of particular significance subsequent to the end of the 2024 financial 

year that require disclosure in the annual report. 

 

9. Governance Statement 
 

The Code of Corporate Governance is part of the Code of Ethics, the Quality Policy as well as the 

Quality Manual. The Code of Ethics and the Quality Policy are publicly available for viewing on the 

Company's website.  

All information on management methods is contained in the Quality Manual, which is an 

important internal document of GEVORKYAN, a.s. A description of the main internal control and 

risk management systems in relation to the financial statements is presented in section 8 of this 

annual report. 

The General Assembly is the supreme body of GEVORKYAN, a.s. It is held at least once a year and 

is convened by the company's Board of Directors. The Board of Directors of the Company is 

composed of one member, namely the Chairman of the Board of Directors, who is Artur 

Gevorkyan. The General Meeting of Shareholders at the Ordinary Meeting approves the financial 
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statements, profit distribution, decides on the issue of shares or share buy-back and approves the 

auditor or an extraordinary meeting may be approved.  

Another body of the company is the Supervisory Board, which consists of the Chairman and two 

other members.  This body is elected and appointed by the general meeting of shareholders. It 

elects the company's board of directors, supervises the company's operations and its 

management, checks the annual accounts and business results. 

 

10.  Important events and information 
 

A description of significant events that have occurred and their impact on the financial statements 

and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties  

In February 2022, a military conflict broke out in Ukraine, which is still ongoing at the time of the 

preparation of these financial statements. In connection with this, there have been, among other 

things, impacts on business in Ukraine and in Russia due to the war and economic sanctions, 

increases in market prices for raw materials, fuels and energy and increased volatility in currency 

exchange rates. Although the quantification of the potential impact on the Company cannot be 

estimated with sufficient reliability at this time, the Company has analyzed the potential impact 

of changing micro and macroeconomic conditions on the Company's performance, financial 

position and operations and has not identified any uncertainty in relation to the Company's 

continued operations 

In addition, the company has seen an increase in demand from companies operating in the EU 

and US defence industries.  

The complete financial report will be available on the website www.gevorkyan.sk and in printed 

form at the registered office of GEVORKYAN, a.s. at Továrenská street no. 504, 976 31 Vlkanová. 

The Company does not include in the annual report, in accordance with point 13, §20 of Act No. 

431/2002 Coll. on Accounting, non-financial information on the development, actions, position 

and impact of the entity's activities on the environmental, social and employment spheres, 

information on the observance of human rights and on the fight against corruption and bribery, 

as the average number of employees of the Company for the accounting period did not exceed 

500 employees. 

Information on the composition of the company's bodies and their committees 

The Supervisory Board of GEVORKYAN Inc. acted as the Audit Committee during the year. During 

the year 2024, it was composed of Ing. Andrej Bátovský (Chairman of the Committee), Robert 

Gevorkyan (member) and Denisa Kvasová (member). During the year, the Supervisory Board was 

presented with reports on the preparation of the financial statements, the audit process and the 

internal control system. Meetings were also held with all members of the Supervisory Board 
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during the year. The Chairman of the Management Board of GEVORKYAN a.s. is: Dipl. Ing. Artur 

Gevorkyan. The shareholders of Gevorkyan are. Artur Gevorkyan (77 % shareholding), JEREMIE 

Co-Investment Fund s.r.o. (2.6 %) and BHS Fund II - Private Equity (2.6 %), other shareholders 

(free float shares) 17.8 % 

Description of the main internal control and risk management systems in relation to the 

financial statements 

The financial statements of GEVORKYAN, Inc. for the year 2024 have been prepared in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and as 

amended from time to time on a going concern basis and have been prepared as ordinary financial 

statements. 

The Company has also prepared interim financial statements as at 31.03.2024, 30.06.2024 and 
30.09.2024 during the year 2024. 

The internal control system is carried out in accordance with the basic internal directive and other 

internal directives which are subordinate to the basic accounting directive and in accordance with 

the applicable accounting legislation. These directives govern the different areas and accounting 

treatment of: tangible fixed assets, intangible fixed assets, financial assets, inventories, 

receivables, payables, provisions, accruals, equity, foreign currency transactions, income, finance 

leases, income tax, subsidies and corrections of prior period errors. These guidelines have been 

submitted to the audit firm and are also available to all members of the Audit Committee. Mr. 

Artur Gevorkyan is responsible for the accuracy of the financial statements.  

The interim accounts are checked on a monthly basis, by taking stock of the balances of the 

individual accounts. Other control processes were carried out in accordance with the internal 

accounting directive. In addition to these regular controls, the company is audited annually by 

Ernst & Young Slovakia, spol. s r.o. GEVORKYAN, a.s. takes care to educate its employees by 

regular external training in the areas of accounting, reporting, taxes and accounting laws.  

Information on the activities of the General Assembly for the year 2024 

During 2024, two meetings of the General Assembly of GEVORKYAN, Inc. were held 

On 21.6.2024, the General Meeting was held, the subject of which was the approval of the written 

report of the Board of Directors of the Company, the resolution on the amendment of the Articles 

of Association of the Company, the discussion and approval of the annual individual financial 

statements of the Company for 2023 and the annual report of the Company for 2023, the 

discussion and approval of the distribution of the profit of the Company for 2023 and the 

discussion and approval of the auditor of the Company for 2024.  

The General Meeting decided that the audit services for 2024 will be performed by Ernst & Young 

Slovakia, spol. s r.o.  
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The General Meeting of Shareholders, on the proposal of the Company's Board of Directors, at its 

Ordinary Session, approved the distribution of the profit after tax for the year 2023 based on last 

year's published financial statements prepared in accordance with the Accounting Act in the 

amount of EUR 3,749,126 as follows:  

• an allocation to the legal reserve of EUR 374 912,60,  

• transfer to retained earnings of previous years of EUR 3 374 213,40. 

 

On 10.12.2024, the second meeting of the General Meeting was held, the subject of which was 

the approval and determination of the conditions for the acquisition of own shares by the 

Company and the approval of the decision to amend the Articles of Association of the Company. 

The General Meeting approved the maximum number of shares that may be acquired by the 

Company, which was set at 293,280. The period during which the Company may acquire treasury 

shares was determined and approved for a period of 18 months and the price range from CZK 100 

to CZK 500 for which the Company may purchase treasury shares was also determined.  

 
Information on the development, conduct, position and impact of the entity's activities on 

environmental, social and employment issues, information on respect for human rights and on 

the fight against corruption and bribery 

Other additional data 

Securities issued by the Company are not restricted as to transferability.  

The company does not have a qualified participation in the share capital according to a special 

regulation. 

The voting rights attached to the Company's shares are not restricted. Holders of securities issued 

by the Company do not have special control rights. 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company is not aware of any agreements among the holders of 

securities issued by it that may result in restrictions on the transferability of securities and 

restrictions on voting rights. 

The Company has not entered into any agreements that become effective, are modified or 

terminated as a result of a change in control in connection with the Takeover Offer. 

The Company has not entered into any agreements with directors or employees to compensate 

them if their office or employment is terminated by resignation, resignation by the employee, 

dismissal, termination by the employer without cause or termination of office or employment as 

a result of a takeover bid. 
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GEVORKYAN, a.s. does not have a branch abroad. The information on research and development 

activities for 2024 is broken down as follows: research costs of EUR 1,925,329, non-activated 

development costs of EUR 919,357 and activated development costs of EUR 0. 
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11. Attachments (Certificates of the company and sample articles about 

the company in the media in Slovakia and the Czech Republic) 
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*Link to article and video from the visit of the President of the Slovak Republic Petr Pellegrini: 

https://www.gevorkyan.sk/post/prezident-slovenskej-republiky 

https://www.gevorkyan.sk/post/prezident-slovenskej-republiky
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Individual Financial Position Statement 

 
EUR thousand Note 31. december 2024 31. december 2023 

 
 

  
Intangible assets 4 11 143 11 330 

Property, plant and Equipment 5 117 285 104 006 

Total non-current assets   128 428 115 336 

 
   

Stocks 7 31 042 26 672 

Trade receivables 8 33 263 29 907 

Income tax payable 24  0 

Other current assets 9 792 684 

Cash and cash equivalents 10 2 607 2 676 

Total Current Assets   67 704 59 939 

 
   

Total assets   196 132 175 275 

 
 

  
Capital 11 16 657 16 657 

Share premium 11 24 695 24 695 

Custom actions  (79) 0 

Capital funds 11 13 106 12 731 

Retained earnings / (loss) of previous periods 11 17 338 13 883 

Profit / (loss) for the period 11 3 786 3 830 

Total Equity   75 503 71 796 

 
   

Bonds issued 13 37 351 8 063 

Long-term loans and credits 12 35 158 35 959 

Long-term lease liabilities 6 331 551 

Deferred tax liability 24 6 707 4 748 

Other long-term liabilities 15 2 106 2 219 

Total long-term liabilities   81 653 51 540 

 
   

Short-term bonds issued 13 604 10 466 

Short-term loans and credits 12 12 352 18 684 

Short-term reserves 16 187 183 

Income tax payable 24 9 4 

Short-term lease liabilities 6 39 365 

Trade Payables 14 24 426 19 971 

Other short-term liabilities 14 1 358 2 266 

Total short-term liabilities   38 975 51 939 

 
   

Total liabilities    120 629 103 479 

 
 

  
Total equity and liabilities   196 132 175 275 

 
   

 

 

The notes on pages 5 to 42 form an integral part of the individual accounts.  
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Individual statement of profit and loss and other components of comprehensive income 

 
EUR thousand Note 2024 2023 

    
Revenues from the sale of own products 17 65 359 49 382 

Revenues from the sale of services 17 10 327 11 385 

Revenues    75 686 60 767 

    
Change in own production 18 4 601 2 294 

Material and energy consumption 19 -33 374 -23 846 

Services 20 -15 253 -13 726 

Personnel costs 21 -5 645 -4 990 

Other operating result  22 354 274 

Operating profit   26 369 20 773 

    
Depreciation and amortization 5,6 -15 523 -11 873 

Profit / (loss) before interest, tax    10 846 8 900 

    
Financial revenues 23 391 475 

Financial costs 23 -5 197 -4 369 

Profit/(loss) arising from financial operations, net   -4 806 -3 894 

    
Profit/(loss) before tax    6 040 5 006 

    
Income tax payable 24 -294 -287 

Deferred income tax 24 -1 959 -889 

Profit/(loss)   3 787 3 830 

    
Other components of a comprehensive result   0 0 

Overall Comprehensive Result    3 787 3 830 

    
    
Earnings / (loss) per share (in euros)  0,23 0,23 

Diluted earnings / (loss) per share (in euros)  0,23 0,23 

    
Number of shares as at 31.12.  16 657 272 16 657 272 

Average number of shares   16 657 272 16 657 272 

 

 

The notes on pages 5 to 42 form an integral part of the individual accounts.
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Individual statement of changes in equity 

 

EUR thousand Note Capital 
Share 

premium 

Custom 
actions 

Other Equity 
Funds  

Statutory 
reserve fund 

Retained 
earnings / (loss)  

Total 

Balance as of 1 January 2024  16 657 24 695 0 11 307 1 425 17 767 71 798 

Transfer of retained earnings to the statutory reserve fund 11     374 (374) -  

Profit / (loss) for the period 11      3 787 3 787 

Custom actions 11   (79)     

         
Other components of comprehensive income, after tax         -  

         
Total comprehensive result for the period 11 -  -   -  374 3 413 3 787 

         
Transactions with owners, accounted for directly in the cost of equity        -  

         
Total transactions during the year  -  -   -  -  -  -  

Balance as at 31 December 2024 11 16 657 24 695 (79) 11 307 1 799 21 127 75 506 

 

  

Individual statement of changes in equity (continued) 

 

EUR thousand Note Capital 
Share 

premium 
Custom 
actions 

Other Equity 
Funds 

Statutory 
reserve fund 

Retained 
earnings / (loss)  

Total 

Balance as of January 1, 2023 11 16 657 24 695 0 11 307 1 072 14 237 67 968 

Transfer of retained earnings to the statutory reserve fund 11     353 (353) -  

Profit / (loss) for the period 11      3 830 3 830 

         
Other components of comprehensive income, after tax         -  

         
Total comprehensive result for the period 11 -  -  0 -  353 3 477 3 830 

         
Transactions with owners, accounted for directly in the cost of equity        -  

         
Total transactions during the year  -  -  - -  -  -  -  

Balance as of December 31, 2023 11 16 657 24 695 0 11 307 1 425 17 714 71 798 

 

 

The notes on pages 5 to 42 form an integral part of the individual financial statements.  
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Individual cash flow statement 

 

EUR thousand     
  

1.1.2024 - 
31.12.2024 

1.1.2023 - 
31.12.202

3 

Profit (loss) before tax for the year       Note 6 040 5 006 

Adjustments for non-cash operations:         

Profit from the sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets    (8) 79 

Depreciation of own property, plant and equipment and depreciation of intangible assets  4,5,6 15 523 11 873 

Creation of a provision for receivables    8 (8) (24) 

Change in provision for stock      7 104 (67) 

Impairment of goodwill      -  -  

Revaluation of fair value through the profit and loss account    -  -  

Proceeds from the sale of parts of the business     -  -  

Revaluation of fixed assets     -  -  

Interest expense (net)     23 4 944 3 536 

Change in reserves     16 4 17 

Income tax     24 (294) (287) 

Decrease (increase) of trade receivables and accruals  8 (3 456) (6 435) 

Decrease (increase) of 
inventories     

7 
(4 473) (2 663) 

(Decrease) increase in liabilities and accruals   14 3 434 8 121 

Other items of a non-monetary nature     (1 075) (102)  

Cash flow from operating activities        20 734 19 053 

Income tax paid      (4) (287) 

Net cash flow from operating activities        20 730 18 766 

Cash flows from investment activities         

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets   5,6,7 (29 296) (25 337) 

Income from the sale of property, plant and equipment   6 729 2 974 

Transfer of fixed assets to property, plant and equipment   -  -  

Transfer of property, plant and equipment to inventory    -  -  

Purchase/investment in fixed assets     -  -  

Income from the sale of fixed assets     -  -  

Long-term loans granted     -  -  

Long-term loan repayments     -  -  

Procurement of financial investments     -  -  

Income from the sale of financial investments     -  -  

Net cash outstanding with a subsidiary    -  -  

Proceeds from the sale of an Non-controlled interest in a subsidiary   -  -  

Purchase of own shares  11 (79) - 

Interest received / (paid) 
interest     

 
(752)  (546)  

Net cash flows used in investment activities      (29 398) (22 909) 

Cash flows from financing activities         

Credit and loan repayments     26 (8 826) (5 271)  

Income from loans and 
advances     

26 
1 502 12 358  

Income from capital increases and other capital funds    -  -  

Issuance of new bonds    30 000 - 

Repayment of bonds   26 (10 235) (1 285) 

Expenditure on the repayment of lease liabilities    26 (516) (316) 

Interest paid     26 (3 325) (1 391)  

Dividend payment      -  -  

Net cash flows used in financing activities      8 600 4 095 

               

Net increase/(decrease) of money and cash equivalents      (69) (49) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year   10 2 676 2 725 

           

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year     10 2 607 2 676 

 

The notes on pages 5 to 42 form an integral part of the individual financial statements.  
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1. Company Information 

 Basic information 

GEVORKYAN, a.s. (hereinafter referred to as the "Company") is a joint-stock company established on September 16, 1996. 

Until 20 January 1997, it was registered in the Commercial Register kept at the District Court of Banská Bystrica, Section Sa, 

File 1232/S. On 13 May 2022, the company changed its legal form from the original limited liability company to the current joint-

stock company. The company is located at Továrenská 504, Vlkanová, Slovak Republic, identification number 36 017 205. 

The main subject of activity is: 

1. Research and development in the field of natural and technical sciences 

2. Powder metallurgy activity 

3. Research and development in the field of social sciences and humanities  

4. The purchase of goods for the purpose of selling them to the end consumer within the scope of a free trade 

5. Purchase of goods for the purpose of their sale to other trade operators within the scope of a free trade 

6. Mediation of trade and services within the scope of a free trade 

7. Toolmaking 

8. Heat treatment of metals 

9. Surface treatment of metals  

10. Repair of mechanical parts of machinery and equipment 

11. Welding work 

12. Mechanical engineering engineering services 

13. Medical Device Manufacturing 

14. Manufacture of rubber and plastic products 

15. Textile production 

16. Manufacture of pulp, paper, paperboard and articles of these materials 

 Legal reason for the preparation of financial statements 

 

The individual financial statements for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 have been prepared in accordance 

with the International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS Accounting Standards") as adopted by the EU. 

 

 Date of approval of the accounts for the previous period 

 

The financial statements for the previous accounting period were approved by the General Meeting of the Company on 

21.06.2024. 

  

 Number of employees 

Item Name     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Average recalculated number of employees  170 173 
The number of employees as at the date on which the financial statements 
are prepared, of which: 166 168 

Number of managers  4 4 

Number of agency workers       
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 Shareholder Structure of the Company 

Shareholder structure of the Company as at 31.12.2024:  

 

Companion  
Amount of share 

capital [EUR] 
Amount of share 

capital [%] 
Share of voting 

rights [%] 

Share of other 
items VI other 

than ZI [%] 

Artur Gevorkyan  12 850 77% 77%   

JEREME 437 3% 3%   

BHS Fund PE 437 3% 3%   

Free float 2 933 17% 17%   

Total 16 657 100% 100%   

Shareholder structure of the Company as at 31.12.2023: 

Companion  
Amount of share 

capital [EUR} 
Amount of share 

capital [%] 
Share of voting 

rights [%] 

Share of other 
items VI other 

than ZI [%] 

Artur Gevorkyan  12 850 77% 77%   

JEREME 437 3% 3%   

BHS Fund PE 437 3% 3%   

Free float 2 933 17% 18%   

Total 16 657 100% 100%   

 Members of the statutory bodies of the company as of 31.12.2024 

 

Board of directors: 

Dipl. Ing. Artur Gevorkyan – Chairman of the Board of Directors  

 

Supervisory Board: 

Ing. Andrej Bátovský – Chairman  

Robert Gevorkyan – Member  

Denisa Riečanová – Member  

 

2. Significant accounting principles 

 Declaration of conformity  

The attached financial statements of the company for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 have been 

prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) approved by the European Union 

and the Interpretative Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. All standards and 

interpretations that are effective and approved by the European Union (EU) as of 31 December 2024 have been used. 

 Starting points for the assembly  

 

The Company's management expects that the Company has sufficient funds to continue operations for at least the next 

12 months and that the preparation of financial statements assuming continuity of its operations is reasonable. 
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The preparation of financial statements according to the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 

EU requires the use of various judgments, assumptions and estimates. These have an impact on the amounts of reported 

assets, liabilities, income and expenses. However, actual results are likely to differ from these estimates. Material 

accounting estimates and management judgments that carry a significant risk of causing a material adjustment in the 

future financial year are described in Section 3, Material Accounting Estimates and Assumptions. 

Estimates and related assumptions are continuously reviewed. If the restatement relates to only one accounting period, 

it shall be recognised in that period, and if the reassessment affects both current and future financial years, it shall be 

recognised in the period in which the reassessment occurred and also in future periods. 

Individual financial statements are prepared in thousands of euros, unless otherwise stated.  

 

 

 

 International Financial Reporting Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective 

 

Issued standards, interpretations and amendments to standards that are effective after December 31, 2024 and 

that were not prematurely applied by the Company 

• IFRS 10, IAS 28: Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Non-Monetary Assets to an 

Associate or Joint Venture in Exchange for Equity Interest (these amendments have not yet been approved 

by the EU, the effectiveness of the amendments in the EU has been postponed indefinitely); 

• IAS 1: Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities into Current 

and Non-Current, Classification of Liabilities into Current and Non-Current – Shift in Effectiveness and Non-

Current Liabilities with Covenants (effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2024, this 

Standard has not yet been approved by the EU); 

• IFRS 16 Leases: Lease Liability on Sale and Leaseback (these amendments have not yet been approved by 

the EU, the effectiveness of the amendments in the EU has been postponed indefinitely) 

• Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: Supplier 

Financing Agreements (these amendments have not yet been approved by the EU, the effectiveness of the 

amendments in the EU has been postponed indefinitely) 

• Amendments to IAS 12 Income Tax: International Tax Reform – Two-Pillar Model Rules (these amendments 

have not yet been approved by the EU, the effectiveness of the amendments in the EU has been postponed 

indefinitely) 

• Amendments to IAS 21: Impact of Exchange Rate Changes: Lack of Convertibility (issued on 15 August 
2023) - not yet approved by the EU - effective for annual financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2025; 

• IFRS 18 "Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements" (issued on or after 9 April 2024) - not yet 
approved by the EU until the date of approval of these financial statements - effective for annual financial 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027;  

• IFRS 19 "Non-Public Liability Subsidiaries: (issued on or after 9 May 2024) - as of the date of approval of 
these consolidated financial statements, not yet approved by the EU - effective for annual financial periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2027; 

• Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 "Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments" (issued on or 
after 30 May 2024) - not yet approved by the EU until the date of approval of these financial statements - 
effective for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026; 

• Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Contracts Relating to Nature-Dependent Electricity (issued on 18 
December 2024) - not yet approved by the EU at the date of approval of these financial statements - effective 
for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2026; 

• Annual Enhancements Volume 11 (issued July 18, 2024) - not yet approved by the EU at the date of approval 
of these financial statements - effective for financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2026 

• Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures: (in December 2015, the IASB postponed the effective date of these amendments indefinitely until 
the outcome of its equity research project is known) 

•  



GEVORKYAN, a.s. 

Notes on the individual financial statements for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 

 

9 

The Company has not opted for the early adoption of any standard, interpretation or amendment that has been published 

but has not yet entered into force.  

 The Company is currently assessing the impact of these standards on its financial statements. Foreign currency 

Foreign currency transactions 

The items recognised in the Company's financial statements are expressed in the currency of the primary economic 

environment in which the Company operates (functional currency). Individual financial statements are presented in 

thousands of euros, which represent both the functional currency and the reporting currency of the Company. 

Transactions in foreign currency are converted into euros at the exchange rate in force on the day preceding the date of 

the accounting case. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are converted into euro at the 

date on which the accounts are drawn up at the exchange rate of the European Central Bank prevailing on that date. 

Exchange rate differences resulting from such conversions are recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at cost are converted into euro at the exchange rate 

prevailing at the date on which the financial statements are prepared.  

 Accounting 

Financial assets and liabilities are netting and their net worth is recognised on the balance sheet when the Company has 

a legally enforceable right to offset recognised values and when there is an intention to settle transactions on the basis 

of their net difference. 

 Intangible assets 

 

Reporting and valuation  

 

Purchased intangible fixed assets are measured at cost less depreciation (see Depreciation below) and accumulated 

impairment losses (j). The purchase price includes the purchase price and the costs that are directly related to its procurement. 

  

Intangible fixed assets generated by own operations are measured at cost less depreciation (see Depreciation below) and 

accumulated impairment losses (j). Custom costs include direct material and labor costs and manufacturing overheads.  

  

Intangible fixed assets acquired by other means (including know-how) are measured at the fair value at which the asset would 

have been acquired at the time they are accounted for, less depreciation (see Depreciation below) and accumulated impairment 

losses (j). This price is determined by an expert estimate, expert opinion or according to special regulations.  

Amortization 

 

The depreciation of intangible fixed assets is accounted for in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life 

of the asset concerned. The expected useful life, depreciation method and depreciation rate are set for each group of intangible 

fixed assets as follows: 

 

 
Estimated time of use 

Annual depreciation 

rate 
Depreciation method 

Software 4 1/4 linear 

Valuable rights (know-

how) 
50 1/50 linear 

  

 

        

 Property, plant and Equipment 

 
Own property 
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Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost or own cost, less depreciation (see Depreciation below) and accumulated 
impairment losses (j). The cost includes all expenses directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Own costs of assets 
created by their own activities include the cost of materials, direct labor costs, all directly attributable costs of bringing the asset 
to a state in which it is capable of operating in the specified manner. Where relevant, the purchase price/cost also includes an 
initial estimate of the cost of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring its location to its original condition, and the cost 
of credits and borrowing as described below. 
 
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are part of the 
cost of those assets. 
 
If the items of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they are accounted for as separate items of 
property, plant and equipment. 
 
Profit and loss from the disposal of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal and 
the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and is reported in the profit and loss account, in net operating activities. 
 

Subsequent costs  

Subsequent costs are only activated if it is probable that the Company will derive future economic benefits contained in the 
relevant Property, Plant and Equipment item and the relevant costs can be measured reliably. All other costs, including 
routine maintenance of the property, machinery and equipment, are recorded in the profit or loss in the period to which they 
are related.  
 
Depreciation 
 
Depreciation is calculated from the depreciable value, which is the cost of the asset after deducting its residual value. 
 
Depreciation is recognised with an impact on profit or loss in operating activities on a straight-line basis over the course of 
estimated useful life of individual items of property, plant and equipment. Depreciation begins when the asset is available for 
use. Land and acquired tangible assets are not depreciated. 
 
 
 
Estimated useful lives, depreciation methods and depreciation rates are set for individual groups of property, machinery and 
equipment and are as follows: 

 

Capitalized finance costs  

 

Financial costs related to an asset that requires a significant period of time to be brought into a condition necessary for its use 

or sale are activated by the Company as part of the cost of the asset. 

 

 Lease 

 

When creating a contract, the company assesses whether the contract includes a lease. That is, whether the contract gives rise 

to a right to control the use of identifiable assets for a certain period in exchange for consideration.  

 

 

Expected service life 

(years) 

Annual depreciation 

rate 
Depreciation method 

Building 60 1/60 linear 

Transport 4 1/4 linear 

Presses 30 1/30 linear 

Ovens 35 1/35 linear 

Stroje MIM (Metal Injection Moulding) 35 1/35 linear 

Stroje HIP (Hot isostatic pressing) 35 1/35 linear 

Machinery, apparatus and equipment 20 1/20 linear 

Tools 15 1/15 linear 
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The company as a lessee 

 

The Company applies a uniform approach to recognition and measurement for all leases, with the exception of short-term leases 

(i.e. those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not include an option to 

buy) and low-value leases (below EUR 10k). Lease payments for short-term leases and low-value leases are recognised on a 

flat basis as an expense over the lease term.  

 

Right-of-use assets 

 

Determining whether a contract contains elements of a lease or is a lease depends on the substance of the contract at the time 

it is concluded. A contract is considered to contain elements of a lease and is accounted for accordingly if the contract gives 

rise to the right to control the use of the identified asset for a certain period in exchange for consideration. 

 

This is fulfilled if the Company has both of the following rights during the period of use: 

• the right to acquire substantially all the economic benefits from the use of the identified asset; 

• the right to control the use of the identified asset. 

 

On the lease commencement date (ie the date on which the underlying asset is available for use), the company shall recognise 

the right-of-use asset and the lease liability. A right-of-use asset is valued at cost and represents the lessee's right to use the 

underlying asset during the lease term.  

 

The cost of an asset with a right of use includes: 

• the amount of the initial valuation of the lease liability; 

• all lease payments made before or on the lease commencement date, less any leasing incentives received; 

• any initial direct expenses incurred by the lessee; and 

• an estimate of the costs incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying asset and in restoring it to 

the location where it is located or in restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms of the lease, 

if those costs are not incurred in order to build inventory.  

 

After the lease commencement date, the Company shall measure the right-of-use asset in a manner consistent with the 

valuation of the fixed assets owned by the Company. The methods of depreciation of depreciable assets in leases are also 

consistent with the accounting policy for the depreciation of assets owned by the Company.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

If ownership of a leased asset is transferred to the Company at the end of the lease period, or if the cost reflects the exercise 

of a call option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.  

 

The impairment also applies to assets within assets with rights of use. See accounting policies for impairment of non-financial 

assets in item 2 (i) Impairment. 

 

Lease liabilities 

 

At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of the lease 

payments to be made during the lease term. Lease payments include fixed payments less any incentives received, variable 

lease payments that depend on an index or interest rate, and amounts expected to mature under residual value guarantees. 

 
Expected service life 

(years) 

Annual depreciation 

rate 
Depreciation method 

Transport 4 1/4 The Rovnomers 

Presses 30 1/30 The Rovnomers 

Ovens 35 1/35 The Rovnomers 

Stroje MIM (Metal Injection Moulding) 35 1/35 The Rovnomers 

Stroje HIP (Hot isostatic pressing) 35 1/35 The Rovnomers 

Machinery, apparatus and equipment 20 1/20 The Rovnomers 



GEVORKYAN, a.s. 

Notes on the individual financial statements for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 

 

12 

The lease payments also include the strike price of the call option at which it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise 

it and the payment of termination penalties if the lease term reflects the exercise of the termination option.  

 

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event 

or condition that causes them to be paid occurs.  

 

A company applies a practical tool in accordance with IFRS 16.15. The leasing components are not separate from the non-

leasing components. 

 

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses a predominantly implicit interest rate. In the event that it 

cannot be reliably determined, the Company shall apply its incremental interest rate on the lessee loan at the lease 

commencement date. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is revalued if there is a lease modification 

– a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g. changes in future payments resulting from a change in the index 

or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of the option to purchase the underlying asset. 

When a lease liability is revalued due to a lease modification, the revaluation amount is taken into account in the amount of the 

right-of-use asset, which is adjusted to its residual value by this value. The right-of-use asset is further depreciated from that 

adjusted value.  

 

 

 Impairment of non-financial assets 

 

Factors that are considered important in assessing impairment of assets are mainly:  

• technological progress,  

• significant underperformance compared to historical or planned operating results;  

• significant changes in the way the Company's assets are used or an overall change in the Company's strategy;  

• obsolescence of products. 

 

At each date of the preparation of the financial statements, the Company's assets are reassessed to determine whether there 

is an objective indicator of impairment. If there are indications of a decrease in the value of the asset, the recoverable value is 

estimated. If the carrying amount is higher than the recoverable amount, the carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable 

amount.  

     

The recoverable value of an asset is the value that is higher than its fair value less costs of sale and value from use. In 

determining the value from use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value by applying a pre-tax 

discount rate that reflects the current market valuation of the time value of money and the risks specific to that asset. For an 

asset that does not generate substantially discrete cash flows, the return value is determined for the cash-generating unit group 

to which the asset belongs.  

 

Inventories are reported at a lower amount from the cost of acquisition or cost of production and the net realisation value. The 

net realisable value shall be equal to the estimated selling price, which is applied under normal conditions, less the estimated 

cost of completion and the costs necessary to make the sale.  

 

Impairment losses on continuing operations, including impairments on inventory, are recognised in the profit and loss account. 

 

The Company assesses each financial year whether there is an indication that a previously recognised impairment may no 

longer exist or may have decreased. If there is such an indication, the Company shall estimate the realisable value of the cash-

flow-generating asset or unit. A company is considered a single cash-flow-generating unit. A previously recognised impairment 

shall be reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the realisable value of the asset since 

the last impairment was recognised. The reversal of an impairment is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not 

exceed its carrying amount or the cost less depreciation that would have been determined if no impairment had been recognised 

in prior periods. Such a reversal is recorded in the profit and loss account.  

 

 Stock 
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Purchased inventory is valued at cost price, which includes the purchase price and costs directly related to their acquisition 

(shipping costs, customs duties, commissions, etc.). Received discounts, discounts, rebates reduce the purchase price of 

inventory.             

   

Inventories created by own operations are valued at own cost or net execution value, whichever is lower. Own costs include 

direct material and labor costs and indirect production costs. Production overhead costs include machine service and repair, 

electricity, water and gas consumption, asset depreciation, foreman wages, internal logistics costs, etc. The net strike 

value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of trade, less the estimated cost of completion and the cost of selling.

  

        

In the event of a temporary decrease in the net realisation value of inventories, a provision is created (see point 2 (i) Impairment). 

  

 

 

            

 Financial instruments (excluding financial liabilities) 

 

A financial instrument is any contract, resulting in the creation of a financial assets of one Contracting Party, and financial 

commitment or Equity Instrument of the other party.  

Financial assets are classified at initial recognition as those that are subsequently measured at amortised amount, fair value 

through profit or loss, or fair value through other comprehensive income. 

The classification of financial assets at initial valuation depends on the characteristics of their contractual cash flows and the 

business model used by the Company to manage them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not include a significant 

financing component, or for which the Company has chosen a simplified accounting procedure (i.e. lifetime expected losses are 

included), the Company initially measures the financial asset at fair value, while for financial assets not included in the category 

of instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss, fair value is adjusted for transaction costs. Trade receivables that 

do not include a significant financing component, or for which the Company has chosen a simplified accounting procedure, are 

measured at the transaction price determined in accordance with IFRS 15.   

In order to be classified and measured at amortised value or fair value through other comprehensive income components, a 

financial asset must give rise to cash flows that represent 'solely principal and interest payments (SPPI)' on the principal amount 

outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is carried out at the level of individual instruments.  

The Company's Financial Asset Management Business Model expresses how the Company manages its financial assets to 

generate cash flow. The business model determines whether the cash flows will arise either from the collection of contractual 

cash flows or from the sale of financial assets, or both. 

Subsequent valuation  

For the purposes of subsequent valuation, financial assets are classified into four categories:  

• financial assets at amortised value (debt financial instruments)  

• financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income with recycling of accumulated 

gains and losses (debt financial instruments)  

• financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income without recycling of cumulative 

gains and losses at recognition (equity financial instruments)  

• financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss  

  

The company records only financial assets at amortized value. 
 
Financial assets at amortised value (debt financial instruments)  

A company values financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: 

http://sk.wikipedia.org/wiki/Zmluva
http://sk.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Finan%C4%8Dn%C3%BD_majetok&action=edit&redlink=1
http://sk.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Finan%C4%8Dn%C3%BD_z%C3%A1v%C3%A4zok&action=edit&redlink=1
http://sk.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Finan%C4%8Dn%C3%BD_z%C3%A1v%C3%A4zok&action=edit&redlink=1
http://sk.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Majetkov%C3%BD_n%C3%A1stroj&action=edit&redlink=1
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• the financial asset is held under a business model that intends to hold the financial assets in order to collect 

the contractual cash flows; and 

• The contractual terms of a financial asset give rise to cash flows on specified dates, which consist solely of 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Financial assets at amortised value are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate method (EIR) and are subject 

to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss if the value of the relevant asset is derecognised or decreased. 

De-billing 
 
Financial assets (or, where applicable, part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) are derecognised 
when:  

• the rights to receive cash flows from those assets expire, or 

• the Company has transferred its cash flow rights from the relevant assets or will undertake to pay the full amount of 
the cash flows received to a third party without significant delay ("pass-through arrangement"); and either (a) the 
Company has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards arising from the relevant assets, or (b) the Company 
has not transferred or retained all of the risks and rewards arising from the relevant assets, but has transferred control 
of those assets 

 
Impairment of financial assets  
 
The Company recognises an expected credit loss (ECL) for all debt financial instruments that are not held at fair value 
through profit or loss. The Company assesses each provision other than those listed below separately. The amount of 
expected losses is based on the difference between all contractual cash flows payable to the Company under the contract 
and any cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The expected 
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of the collateral held or other collateral that forms part of the terms of the 
contract. 
 
The company applies a simplified approach to calculating the ECL for trade receivables. For this reason, the Company 
does not track changes in credit risk, but reports a provision based on the value of the lifetime ECL at each date of 
preparation of the financial statements. The Company has established a method that is based on its historical experience 
in the area of losses on receivables and adjusted for expected factors that relate to individual debtors and the economic 
environment.  
 
A company considers a financial asset to be defaulted if the contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in 
certain cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be defaulted if, based on internal or external 
information, it is unlikely that the Company will recover the full outstanding contract amount without realising collateral. A 
financial asset is depreciated when all reasonable options for recovering the contractual cash flows have been exhausted. 

 Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of money in bank accounts, valuables and cash held with the Company. These are short-

term, highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less, which are directly convertible into a pre-known 

amount of cash.  

 

The value of cash and cash equivalents recognised in the financial statements in the statement of cash flows includes the cash 

and cash equivalents listed above.   

 

If there is a decrease in the value of a financial asset that is not revalued at fair value at the date of the financial statements, 

the difference is treated as a temporary impairment and is accounted for as a provision. 

   

 Trade payables and other liabilities 

 

Trade and other liabilities are recognised at amortised cost (see point (n) Financial liabilities). 

           

 Financial commitments 

 

All financial liabilities are measured at fair value at initial recognition, plus directly attributable transaction costs for loans and 

advances. 
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The Company's financial liabilities consist of trade payables and other liabilities, overdrafts, credits and loans, issued bonds. 

 

Financial liabilities that are not financial instruments measured at fair value with changes recognised in profit or loss are 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate. Profits and losses are recognised in the profit and loss account 

after depreciation and amortisation. The amortised value is calculated by taking into account all costs and discounts or 

settlement premiums and fees or charges that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Amortisation using the effective 

interest rate is recognised in finance costs in the Profit and Loss Account.  

 

 

 

 State subsidies  

 

Subsidies are reported as State subsidies if there is reasonable assurance that the subsidy has been received and that all 

conditions associated with the receipt of the subsidy have been met. If the subsidy relates to the reimbursement of costs, it is 

reported as revenue during the period necessary to systematically compensate the subsidy with the costs for which the subsidy 

is intended. If the grant relates to the acquisition of fixed assets, it is accounted for as deferred income and is accounted for 

equally in the profit and loss account over the estimated useful life of the asset concerned.  

 

 Reserves 

 

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position if, as a result of a past event, the Company has an existing legal 

or implicit obligation that can be reliably estimated and it is probable that the fulfilment of that obligation will result in a loss of 

economic benefits in the future. In determining the value of provisions, the expected future cash flows are amortised to their 

present value by applying a pre-tax discount rate that takes into account the current market assessment of the value of money 

and the risks associated with the liability.  

 

Short-term employee benefits  

 

Liabilities arising from short-term employee benefits are expressed on an undiscounted basis and are recognised as costs at 

the time the work is performed by the employees. In the event that the Company has a legal or contractual obligation as a result 

of past work performed by employees and the amount of the liability can be reliably estimated, the liability will be recognised in 

the amount of the estimated short-term monetary reward or planned profit share.  

 

 Sales 

Sales are valued at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company is expected to be entitled in exchange for 

the transfer of goods, products and services. A company accounts for revenue from the sale of its own products and revenue 

from the provision of services, while revenue from the sale of its own products is recognised at the time of transfer of control 

and ownership of the product, usually after delivery. Revenues from the provision of services are accrued in time depending on 

the period during which the service was provided. Sales do not include value added tax. They are also reduced by discounts 

and deductions (rebates, bonuses, discounts, credit notes, etc.).  

 Products in progress  

Products in progress are products in progress on which it is necessary to carry out further processing (compaction, 

galvanization, metal processing, etc.) necessary for the completion of powder metallurgy products to the final state, and thus 

for the subsequent sale of products to third parties. The Company sells the products in progress to its subcontractors, who 

process the products and then sell them back to the Company. The company uses this method of cooperation to eliminate the 

costs associated with the delivery of damaged machined products. Products in progress are reported at net value as operating 

expenses.   
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 Financial Returns and Costs 

 

Financial income and expenses are accounted for using the effective interest rate method and are recognised with an impact 

on profit or loss on an accrual basis in the period to which they belong, independently of the actual payments of those gains 

and expenses.  

 

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets shall be 

recognised with an impact on profit or loss using the effective interest rate method. 

 

 Income tax 

 

Income tax includes both tax payable and tax deferred. These taxes are recorded in the profit and loss account, except when it 

relates to business combinations or items reported directly in equity or other comprehensive income. 

 

Tax payable 

 

Income tax payable is the expected tax liability or receivable from taxable income or losses for an accounting year, using the 

tax rate applicable to that financial year and adjustments to the tax liability of previous years. 

 

Deferred tax 

 

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 

purposes and their tax base. Deferred tax is not calculated from temporary differences that arise from the initial recognition of 

assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and which, at the time of the transaction, has no effect on 

either the profit or loss of business or the tax base.  

 

Deferred tax reflects tax implications that track the way in which the Company expects the carrying amount of its assets and 

liabilities to be returned or settled at the end of the financial year.  

 

Deferred tax is calculated at the rate of tax that is expected to be applied to temporary differences at the time they are settled, 

using the tax rates under the laws that have been approved or approved in substance by the date on which the accounts are 

prepared.  

 

A deferred tax asset and a liability may be offset against each other if there is a legally enforceable right to offset the tax liability 

and receivable due and if they are the same tax authority and the same taxpayer, or they relate to different taxpayers, but they 

intend to settle the tax liabilities and receivables net or their tax receivables and liabilities will be realised at the same time.  

 

A deferred tax asset from unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences is accounted for only if it is 

probable that the future tax base against which the temporary differences can be offset is achievable. A deferred tax asset is 

reviewed on each date on which the financial statements are prepared and is reduced to the extent that it is unlikely that the 

income tax base will be reached. 

 

 Dividends 

 

Dividends are recognised in the statement of changes in equity and as a liability in the period when they are approved. 

 

 Reporting by segment 

 

Operating segments are the parts of the company that are able to generate revenues and costs, about which financial 

information is available, which is regularly evaluated by decision-makers in deciding on the allocation of resources and in 

determining performance. Management pursues only one revenue-generating operating segment, which represents the 

company as a whole.  
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 Fair value estimates 

The following paragraphs describe the main methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial assets and 

liabilities. 

 

Credits, loans and bonds 

 

For loans and advances without a specified maturity, fair value has been determined as the amount of liabilities due at the date 

at which the financial statements are prepared. For loans, loans and bonds with agreed maturities, fair value is determined on 

the basis of discounted cash flows using the current interest rates currently offered for loans and advances with similar 

maturities.  

 

Trade receivables and other financial receivables 

 

Short-term receivables without the specified interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount if the discounting effect 

is insignificant. For receivables with a residual maturity of less than one year, their nominal value is assumed to represent also 

its fair value. Fair value is determined at initial recognition and for the purposes of end-of-year disclosure.  

 

Trade payables and other financial liabilities 

 

Trading liabilities and other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. The carrying amount of trade payables and 

other financial liabilities is approximately equal to their fair value.  

 

Money and cash equivalents 

 

For money and cash equivalents, their nominal value is assumed to represent both fair value.  

3. Major accounting estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted 

by the EU, requires the use of certain fundamental accounting estimates. It also requires management to use their 

judgment in the process of applying the company's accounting policies. Therefore, these accounting estimates will 

inevitably only rarely be consistent with the actual results. Estimates and assumptions that carry a significant risk of 

causing a material adjustment in the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in a future financial year are described 

below. Estimates and assumptions are continuously reviewed. If the restatement relates to only one accounting period, 

it shall be recognised in that period, and if the reassessment affects both current and future financial years, it shall be 

recognised in the period in which the reassessment occurred and also in future periods. 

 
 
Provision for Assessable Rights 
 
The Company's accounting method for assessing the potential impairment of valuable rights is the annual assessment 
of the existence of impairment indicators based on an updated sales forecast. The company prepares a sales forecast 
based on planned projects with customers. To assess the indicators of impairment of valuable rights, the company uses 
the RMM (Relief from Royalty Method) model that evaluates the fair value of the valuable right. The model evaluates 
fair value based on the hypothetical value of discounted royalties, for which the Company would procure an assessable 
right from an external environment. The inputs to the model are forecasted sales, the royalty rate determined by 
external experts, the lifetime of the assessable right determined by external experts, and the discount rate taking into 
account the expected tax rates. If indicators of impairment of valuable rights are identified, the Company prepares a 
calculation of the provision for these rights.  
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4. Intangible assets  

EUR thousand     

Software 
Assessable 

rights 

Other fixed 
intangible 

assets 

Acquired 
fixed 

intangible 
assets  

  Total 

Cost          
Initial balance as of 
1.1.2024   178 13 871 534 156  14 739 

Increases   15   97  112 

Decreases        0 

Transfers        0 

Balance as at 31.12.2024   192 13 871 534 253   14 851 

           
Depreciation and 
impairment losses          
Initial balance as of 
1.1.2024   160 3 087 162   3 409 

Increases   10 277 11   298 

Decreases        0 

Balance as at 31.12.2024   170 3 364 173 0   3 708 

           

Residual value          

k 1.1.2024   17 10 784 373 156   11 330 

k 31.12.2024     22 10 507 362 253   11 143 

 

 

EUR thousand     

Software 
Assessable 

rights 

Other fixed 
intangible 

assets 

Acquired 
fixed 

intangible 
assets  

Total 

Cost         
Initial balance as of 
1.1.2023   171 13 871 534 0 14 576 

Increases   7   156 163 

Decreases       0 

Transfers       0 

Balance as at 
31.12.2023   178 13 871 534 156 14 739 

          

Depreciation and impairment losses        
Initial balance as of 
1.1.2023   154 2 810 151 0 3 115 

Increases   6 277 11  294 

Decreases       0 

Balance as at 
31.12.2023   160 3 087 162 0 3 409 

          

Residual value         

k 1.1.2023   16 11 061 384 0 11 461 

k 31.1.12.2023     17 10 784 373 156 11 330 

 

 

  

Valuable rights represent know-how, namely: 

1) For powder metallurgy, which represents scientific, production-technical, technological knowledge and business 

information used in the processing and sale of powdered metals. The know-how was invested in the company 

(registered capital) as a non-monetary contribution in 2004 and its stated valuation in the amount of EUR 2,164 

thousand represents the fair value of the assets based on an expert opinion prepared as of 26 July 2004.  

2) For Metal injection molding (MIM), which is a state-of-the-art method of joining metals by injection molding of 

powdered metals on injection molding machines. The know-how was invested in the company (registered capital) 

as a non-monetary contribution in 2014 and its initial valuation of EUR 11,707 thousand represents the fair value 

of the assets based on an expert opinion prepared as at 30 June 2014.  
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The Company reassessed the amount of valuable rights based on an expert opinion to EUR 12,500 thousand, which 

represented the fair value as of the valuation date of 30 September 2017. The company plans to write down assessable 

rights by 2065. 

 

When determining the depreciation period of know-how, the company proceeded from the fact that powder metallurgy as 

an industry is one of the most advancing technical fields in the world. The company expects to use know-how for at least 

the next 50 years due to the global growth of industries dealing with electric vehicles, aviation and also due to emerging 

industries such as 3D printing, which will ensure high demand for powder metallurgy products.   

 

Research & Development 

Information on the research and development activities of the accounting entity for the current accounting period, broken 

down into: 

- research costs of €1,925 thousand (2023: €1,684,198);  

- non-activated development costs in the amount of 996 thousand.  EUR (2023: EUR 919 357);  

- activated development costs of €0 (2023: €0). 

 

Lien 

The company did not own any long-term intangible assets on which a lien is established in 2024 or 2023
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5.  Property, Plant and Equipment 

EUR thousand     

Estate Frameworks 

Separate 
movable 

property and 
sets of movable 

property 

Advances on 
tangible fixed 

assets granted 
  

Acquired tangible 
fixed assets 

Total 

Cost           
Initial balance as of 
1.1.2024   592 5 459 120 127 648  4 742 131 568 

Increases   114 711 22 488   5 871 29 183 

Decreases     6 682   720 7 402 

Transfers     5 318 -648  -4 670 0 
Transfer from right-of-use 
assets to own assets     224    224 

Balance as at 31.12.2024   706 6 170 126 412 0   5 223 153 573 

            

Depreciation and impairment losses          
Initial balance as of 
1.1.2024   0 1 085 27 685 0  0 28 770 

Increases    92 14 897    15 156 

Decreases     6 682    6 682 
Transfer from right-of-use 
assets to own assets     238    238 

Balance as at 31.12.2024   0 1 177 36 138 0   0 37 482 

            

Residual value           

k 1.1.2024   592 4 374 92 442 648   4 742 102 798 

k 31.12.2024     706 4 993 106 336 0   5 056 116 091 
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In 2024 and 2023, the company did not acquire tangible fixed assets free of charge. 

EUR thousand     

Estate Frameworks 

Separate 
movable 

property and 
sets of movable 

property 

Advances on 
tangible fixed 

assets granted 

Acquired tangible 
fixed assets 

Total 

Cost          
Initial balance as of 
1.1.2023   441 4 464 97 479 2 001 5 342 109 727 

Additions   151 308 22 293 648 4 742 28 142 

Decreases     7 399   7 399 

Transfers    687 6 656 -2 001 -5 342 0 
Transfer from right-of-use 
assets to own assets     1 098   1 098 

Balance as at 31.12.2023   592 5 459 120 127 648 4 742 131 568 

           

Depreciation and impairment losses         
Initial balance as of 
1.1.2023   0 1 001 20 271 0 0 21 272 

Additions    84 11 329   11 413 

Decreases     4 346   4 346 
Transfer from right-of-use 
assets to own assets     431   431 

Balance as at 31.12.2023   0 1 085 27 685 0 0 28 770 

           

Residual value          

k 1.1.2023   441 3 463 77 208 2 001 5 342 88 455 

k 31.12.2023     592 4 374 92 442 648 4 742 102 798 
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Property Insurance 

Fixed assets are insured by UNIQA and Allianz-Slovenská poisťovňa. Property insurance mainly includes insurance of 

production machinery (fracture of the machine and element) and motor vehicle insurance (accident insurance). The 

annual limit of indemnity for all places of insurance in the territory of the Slovak Republic is EUR 49,084 thousand.  

 

Lien 

As of 31 December 2024, a lien on tangible fixed assets has been established. The value of tangible fixed assets on 

which a lien is established is in the amount of EUR 14,767 thousand 

6. Lease 

Right-of-use assets 

 

EUR thousand     
Transport 

Machines (furnaces, 
presses and others) 

Total 

Cost       
Initial balance as of 
1.1.2024   712 1 071 1 783 

Additions   41   41 

Decreases       0 

Transfer from right-of-use assets to own assets -224   -223 

Modification       0 

Balance as at 31.12.2024   529 1 071 1 600 

        

Depreciation and impairment losses      
Initial balance as of 
1.1.2024   540 35 575 

Additions   91 -22 69 

Decreases       0 

Transfer from right-of-use assets to own assets -238   -238 

Balance as at 31.12.2024   393 13 406 

        

Residual value       

k 1.1.2024   172 1 036 1 208 

k 31.12.2024     136 1 058 1 194 

 

 

EUR thousand     
Transport 

Machines (furnaces, 
presses and others) 

Total 

Cost       
Initial balance as of 
1.1.2023   694 2 102 2 796 

Additions   85 0 85 

Decreases   0 0 0 

Transfer from right-of-use assets to own assets -67 -1 031 -1 098 

Modification   0 0 0 

Balance as at 31.12.2023   712 1 071 1 783 

        

Depreciation and impairment losses      
Initial balance as of 
1.1.2023   519 321 840 

Additions   86 80 166 

Decreases   0 0 0 

Transfer from right-of-use assets to own assets -65 -366 -431 

Balance as at 31.12.2023   540 35 575 

        

Residual value       

k 1.1.2023   176 1 780 1 956 

k 31.12.2023     172 1 036 1 208 

Lease liabilities: 

 

EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Long-term lease liabilities   -331 -551 
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Short-term lease liabilities  -39 -365 

Total      -370 -916 

 

Future lease payments: 

 
EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Up to 1 year (spell+truth)   261 389 
1 - 5 years (interest + 
principal)   337 559 

more than 5 years (interest + principal)    0 

Total      598 948 

 

 

Leasing – additional information:  

 

   
EUR thousand 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Interest expense on 
leases 284                            -255  

Lease write-off 69                            166 

Lease Payments -516 -316  

Short-term leasing 29                                0  

Low-value assets 126                            155  

 

 

Leased property consists mainly of presses, furnaces and automobiles (see note 6 — Right-of-use assets).  

 

The leasing agreement with Tatra-Leasing, s.r.o. contains the following specific conditions that the company must comply 

with:  

1. An aggregate DEBT/EBITDA ratio of less than 5.  

2. Aggregate DSCR greater than 1.3.  

3. Equity to total liabilities ratio greater than 30%.  

 

As of December 31, 2024, the company complied with these conditions. 

 

As of December 31, 2023, the company complied with these conditions.  

7. Stocks 

EUR thousand 
Residual value 2024 Cost 2024 Residual value 2023 Cost 2023 

Material 813 813 1 045 1 045 

Work in progress 14 753 14 810 13 923 13 931 

Products 15 476 15 536 11 704 11 711 

Stock Total  31 042 31 159 26 672 26 686 

 

 

The valuation of surplus, obsolete and low-turnover inventories is reduced to a lower use value through provisions. The 

provision was determined by the company's management on the basis of the expected ratio of the strike price of the 

inventory compared to the production or purchase price. The evolution of the inventory provision during the current and 

immediately preceding accounting period is shown in the following tables:  

 
Provisions for inventory       
EUR thousand   1.1.2024 Creation Release Use 31.12.2024 

         

Work in progress  7 57 7  57 

Products  6 60 6   60 

Total provisions for inventories  14 118 14 0 118 

       
Provisions for inventory       
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EUR thousand   1.1.2023 Creation Release Uae 31.12.2023 

        
Work in progress  42 7 42  7 

Products  25 6 25   6 

Total provisions for inventories  67 14 67 0 14 

 

Based on the previous experience with product recycling, the company's management has decided, based on the 

precautionary principle, to create a general provision for unfinished production, semi-finished products of its own 

production and finished products in the amount of EUR 118 thousand for a possible future reduction of economic benefits 

from these assets.  

 

Lien 

As of 31 December 2024, a lien on stocks has been established in favour of UniCredit Bank Czech Republic and Slovakia, 

a.s., a branch of a foreign bank. The value of the stock on which the lien is established is in the amount of EUR 30,896 

thousand. 

8. Trade receivables  

EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Trade receivables  33 263 29 915 

      
Creation of a provision   2024 2023 

Initial balance as of 1.1.   8 38 

Creation   0 8 

Use   8 11 

Dissolution   0 26 

The balance as of 31.12.   0 8 

      
Total residual value      33 263 29 907 

 

 
The distribution of receivables based on maturity is as follows:  

 
EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Before due date   30 647 25 810 

overdue within 30 days  589 4 096 

overdue from 30 days to 180 days  1 999  
overdue from 180 days to 365 days  4  
overdue more than 365 days  25  
Total      33 263 29 907 
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The division of receivables by type is as follows:  

 
EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Koopers   17 457 15 250 

External customers   4 054 5 495 

Related parties    11 752 9 161 

Total      33 263 29 907 

 

 

Insurance 

The receivables are insured by Atradius. 

 

Lien 

As of December 31, 2024, a lien on receivables in the amount of EUR 12,432 thousand has been established. 

9. Other current assets  

EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Animals   0 0 

Advances granted   56 27 

Other receivables   8 8 

Receivables from employees  58 54 

Value added tax   636 591 

Accrual   34 5 

Total other current assets    792 685 

 

10. Cash and cash equivalents 

EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Cash and cash equivalents  5 3 

Current accounts in banks   2 603 2 672 

Total      2 607 2 676 

 

 

The company has an overdraft account with UniCredit Bank Czech Republic and Slovakia, a.s., which allows it to draw a 

loan of up to EUR 13,000 thousand. As of December 31, 2024, the credit balance (in accordance with the agreed credit 

framework) was EUR 6,177 thousand (2023: EUR 11,489 thousand).  

 

The company has an overdraft account with Komerční banka, a.s., which allows it to draw a loan of up to EUR 5,000 

thousand. As at 31 December 2024, the debit balance (in accordance with the agreed credit framework) was EUR 2,048 

thousand (2023: EUR 870 thousand). 
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11. Equity 

Share capital and share premium 

The approved, subscribed and fully paid-up share capital as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 consisted of 

16,657,272 ordinary shares at a nominal value of EUR 1 per share. The issue of shares is registered under the designation 

ISIN SK1000025322. 

 

As of January 1, 2022, the company reported a share capital of EUR 13,924,472.  

 

On May 13, 2022, the Company changed its legal form from the original limited liability company to the current joint-stock 

company with the number of shares of 13,924,472 with a nominal value of EUR 1 per share.  

 

On May 22, 2022, the Company decided to underwrite new shares in the amount of 2,732,800 shares with a nominal 

value of EUR 1 per share.  

 

In June 2022, the Company entered the PX Start market on the Prague Stock Exchange. The result of these transactions 

is an increase in the registered capital and also the creation of a share premium in the amount of EUR 24,695 thousand.  

 

Shareholders are entitled to the payment of a dividend and the value of a share's vote at the Company's General Meeting 

is determined as the ratio of the value of one share to the total value of the share capital. The following table lists the 

Company's shareholders with the number of shares, ownership interest and voting rights.   

 

 
31. december 2024       

EUR thousand     
Number of shares 

Ownership share (in 
EUR thousands) 

Ownership 
interest (%) 

Voting rights (%) 

Dipl. Ing. Artur Gevorkyan   12 849 758 12 850 77,14% 77,14% 

BHS PE Fund   437 357 437 2,63% 2,63% 

JEREMIE Co-Investment Fund  437 357 437 2,63% 2,63% 

Free float   2 932 800 2 933 17,61% 17,61% 

Total     16 657 272 16 657 100% 100% 

       
31. december 2023       

EUR thousand     
Number of shares 

Ownership share (in 
EUR thousands) 

Ownership 
interest (%) 

Voting rights (%) 

Dipl. Ing. Artur Gevorkyan   12 849 758 12 850 77,14% 77,14% 

BHS PE Fund   437 357 437 2,63% 2,63% 

JEREMIE Co-Investment Fund  437 357 437 2,63% 2,63% 

Free float   2 932 800 2 933 17,61% 17,61% 

Total     16 657 272 16 657 100% 100% 

 

 

Earnings / (loss) attributable per share 

 
EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Profit/ (loss) for the period in EUR thousand  3 787 3 830 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares  16 657 272 16 657 272 

Earnings/(loss) per share in euros   0,227 0,230 

Statutory reserve fund 

As at 31 December 2024, the statutory reserve fund is €1,799 thousand (as at 31 December 2023: €1,424 thousand). 

According to Slovak legislation, the statutory reserve fund is created annually in the amount of at least 10% of the 

company's net profit and at least up to 20% of the subscribed share capital (cumulatively). The statutory reserve fund can 
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only be used to cover the company's losses and may not be used to pay dividends. The calculation of the reserve fund 

is carried out in accordance with Slovak legislation.  

 

Custom actions 

In 2024, the company bought 7,350 shares of its own shares. The purchase price of the shares was CZK 272 per share.  

 

Other Equity Funds 

 

Other equity funds amount to EUR 11,307 thousand  

Profit (loss) distribution 

For the financial year ending December 31, 2024, the Company's management proposes to distribute the realized profit 
in the amount of EUR 3,787 thousand as follows:  

- Allocation to the statutory reserve fund: EUR 374 thousand 
- Transfer to retained earnings of previous periods: EUR 3,787 thousand 

12. Loans and credits 

EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Long-term loans and 
credits   35 158 35 959 
Short-term loans and 
credits   12 352 18 684 

Total      47 511 54 642 

 

 

EUR thousand     

Type of interest rate Due date 
Residual value 

as at 31.12.2024 
Residual value 

as at 31.12.2023 

GEVORKYAN CZ   4,80% 16.11.2026 30 040 30 064 

Komerční banka, a. s.    
3M EURIBOR + 

2.30% 21.9.2025 788 1 838 

Komerční banka, a. s.    
3M EURIBOR + 

2.30% 30.9.2026 1 139 1 979 

Komerční banka, a. s.    
1M EURIBOR + 

2.00%  2 048 870 

BKS Bank AG   1,90% 20.6.2027 1 033 1 433 

Unicredit bank Czech Republic and Slovakia a.s.  

1M EURIBOR + 
2.60%  6 177 11 489 

SACMI   1,95%  0 140 

Komerční banka, a. s.    3M EURIBOR +2% 29.12.2028 182 0 

Komerční banka, a. s.    3M EURIBOR +2% 29.12.2028 443 0 

uprava Sales&leaseback   
 

 5 661 6 829 

Total          47 511 54 642 

 

 

Kovenanty: 

 

Komerční banka 

The loan agreement with Komerční banka, a.s. contains the following specific conditions that the company must comply 

with: 

1. Debt service coverage ratio greater than 120%. 

2. Equity to balance sheet total ratio (total assets) greater than 30%.  

3. The ratio of net financial debt to EBITDA on an annual basis is less than 4.5. 

 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company complied with these conditions. 

 

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not meet the conditions of the debt service coverage ratio. The Company 

communicated this non-performance to the bank in a timely manner and received a written notification from Komerční 

banka, a.s., in which the bank accepts the non-compliance with these conditions as of 31 December 2023 and at the 
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same time confirms that it will not exercise any of its rights arising from the non-compliance covenant. The Company 

received the confirmation from the bank only in the following accounting period. 

 

 

BKS Bank AG 

The loan agreement with BKS Bank AG contains the following specific conditions that the company must comply with:  

1. A ratio of equity to total asset value greater than 25%.  

 

As of December 31, 2024 (as of December 31, 2023), the Company complied with these conditions.  

 

Unicredit bank Czech Republic and Slovakia a.s. 

 

The loan agreement with UniCredit Bank Czech Republic and Slovakia, a. s. contains the following specific conditions 

that the company must comply with: 

 

1. Equity to balance sheet total ratio (total assets) greater than 30%. 

2. The ratio of net financial debt to EBITDA on an annual basis is less than 5.0. 

3. Ratio of current assets to current liabilities greater than 1.2. 

4. Debt service coverage ratio greater than 1.2 

 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company complied with these conditions. 

 

Information on liens is provided in point 5 – Property, plant and equipment, point 7 – Inventories and point 8 – Trade 

receivables. 

 

13. Bonds issued 

 

On 15 March 2019, the Company issued bonds in the total amount of EUR 10,000,000 with an interest rate of 4.70% p.a. 

and maturity in 2024.  

 

On 3 July 2023, the company issued bonds in the total volume of CZK 205,000,000 with an interest rate of 8.50% p.a. 

and maturity in 2028.  

 

On March 12 and October 10, 2024, the Company issued bonds in the total amount of EUR 30,000,000 with an interest 

rate of 7.11% p.a. and maturity in 2029.  

 

 

Details of individual bonds at the end of the current and immediately preceding accounting period are provided in the 

table below. 

 

Covenants 

 

Bonds GEVORKYAN 7.11/2029 issued in EUR: 

 

During 2024, the company issued GEVORKYAN 7.11/2029 bonds (ISIN CZ0000002159) in euros. As of December 31, 

2024, the company must meet several financial and non-financial covenants related to the issue of GEVORKYAN 

7.11/2029 bonds (ISIN CZ0000002159).  As of December 31, 2024, the company met all the defined conditions. All 

liabilities arising from the bonds are disbursed on time and in full. 

 

GEVORKYAN 8.50/28 bonds issued in CZK: 
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As of December 31, 2024, the company must meet several financial and non-financial covenants related to the issue of 

GEVORKYAN 8.50/28 bonds (ISIN CZ0000001813).  As of December 31, 2024, the company met all the defined 

conditions. All liabilities arising from the bonds are disbursed on time and in full. 
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EUR thousand 

ISIN 
Issuing 

date 
Due date 

Currency of 
issue 

The nominal 
value of the 
issue in the 

original 
currency in 
thousands.  

Interest rate p.a. 
in % 

  
Effective interest rate 

p.a. in % 
Residual value as at 

31.12.2024 

Residual 
value as at 
31.12.2023 

GEVORKYAN 4,70/2024 SK4120014994 15.3.2019 15.3.2024 EUR 10 000 4,70%  5,35% 0 10 118 

GEVORKYAN 8,50/2028 CZ0000001813 3.7.2023 3.7.2028 CZK 205 000 8,50%  9,47% 7 956 8 412 

GEVORKYAN 7,11/2029  CZ0000002159 12.3.2024 12.3.2029 EUR 30 000 7,11%   7,89% 30 000 0 

Total                  37 956 18 530 

           
Short-term                 604 10 466 

Long-term         37 352 8 063 

Total                 37 956 18 530 
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14. Trade Payables 

EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

    

    

Trade Payables     -24 426 -19 971 

 

As at 31 December 2024, the Company recorded overdue liabilities in the amount of CZK 12,739 thousand. EUR (as at 31 

December 2023: EUR 2 752 thousand).  

 

15. Other liabilities 

Other short-term liabilities 

 
EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Advances received   -114 -32 

Other liabilities   -179 -414 

Commitments to employees  -242 -251 

Other liabilities related to employees  -214 -190 

Other liabilities - NFP subsidy  -113 -113 

Accrual   -490 -1 263 

Socialny fond   -6 -2 

Total other liabilities      -1 358 -2 266 

 

Other long-term liabilities 

 
EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Other liabilities - NFP subsidy long-term  -2 106 -2 219 

Total other liabilities     -2 106 -2 219 

 

The table below contains a detail on the movements of state subsidies:  

 
EUR thousand     2024 2023 

As of 1.1   2 219 2 332 

Receuved during the year     
Dissolution into profit and loss accounts and other components of 
comprehensive income 113 113 

Situation as of 31.12.     2 106 2 219 

 

The Agreement on the Provision of a Non-Repayable Financial Contribution No. KaHR-111SP-1201/1171/168 concluded 

between the Company and the Ministry of Economy of the Slovak Republic on behalf of the Slovak Innovation and Energy 

Agency contains several financial and non-financial covenants that the Company must comply with. In the event of non-

compliance with the given conditions, there is a risk of reimbursement of the non-refundable financial contribution. As of 

December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the company complied with these conditions. The company is regularly 

inspected by the Slovak Innovation and Energy Agency in order to ensure the performance of the contract.  

 

The Agreement on the Provision of a Non-Repayable Financial Contribution No. Val/DP/2016/1.2.2-02/D379 concluded 

between the Company and the Ministry of Education, Science, Research and Sport of the Slovak Republic on behalf of 

the Ministry of Economy of the Slovak Republic acting through the Slovak Innovation and Energy Agency contains several 

financial and non-financial covenants that the Company must comply with. In the event of non-compliance with the given 

conditions, there is a risk of reimbursement of the non-refundable financial contribution. As of December 31, 2024 and 

December 31, 2023, the company complied with these conditions. The company is regularly inspected by the Slovak 

Innovation and Energy Agency in order to ensure compliance with the contract terms.  

 

 

The creation and drawing of the social fund during the accounting period are shown in the following overview:  
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EUR thousand     2024 2023 

As of 1.1   2 22 
Creation at the expense of 
costs   6 18 

Drawing   2 38 

Situation as of 31.12.     6 2 

 

16. Reserves 

EUR thousand     2024 2023 

Initial balance as of 1.1.   183 166 

Creation of reserves   187 183 

Use of reserves   183 166 

The balance as of 31.12.     187 183 

 

During 2024 (2023), the company created provisions for unused holidays and the associated health and social insurance. 

17. Revenues  

Products vs. Services     
EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Revenues from the sale of own products  65 359 49 382 

therefrom:     
External customers   49 253 37 168 

Related parties   16 105 12 213 
Revenues from the sale of 
services   10 327 11 385 

therefrom:       

External customers   4 108 5 556 

Related parties   6 219 5 829 

Total      75 686 60 767 

Geographical distribution of revenues 

 
EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Slovakia   60 198 47 057 

EU   10 578 10 417 

3 countries   4 910 3 293 

      
Total      75 686 60 767 

 

Risk of customer concentration 

 
The turnover of customers whose individual turnover exceeded 10% of the total sales as of 31.12.2024 amounted cumulatively to EUR 60,209 
thousand (2023: EUR 45,411 thousand). 
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18. Change in the own production  

    

Status  Status    

Change in 
the status 
of internal 
inventories 

EUR thousand   31.12.2024 31.12.2023   2024   2023  

Work in progress and semi-finished products of our 
own production 14 810 13 931   880  -849  

Products  15 536 11 711   3 826  3 090  

Animals   0 0   0  0  

Change in inventory    30 347 25 641   4 705   2 240  

          
Losses and damages                

Other      -104  54  

Change in inventory    30 347 25 641   4 601   2 294  

 

In the period from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024, the Company activated materials and goods worth EUR 339 

thousand (from January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023: EUR 249 thousand). 

 

In 2024, the Company continued to implement non-destructive product inspection methods. It has implemented new fully 

automated workplaces using state-of-the-art robots and camera systems to detect any defects in products.  

 

Thanks to these measures, in 2024, the company caught a non-compliance in the final inspection regarding products that 

can be easily damaged during handling. These products have been recycled. All recycled material was used to produce 

new products that were sold during the year or reported as inventories as of December 31, 2024. The company evaluates 

the possibility of reusing all recycled material in production as the best and least costly way to avoid the risk of larger 

complaints from customers.  

 

Thanks to the early detection of potential risks, for which the company uses state-of-the-art non-destructive control 

methods, the total number of non-conforming products claimed by customers for 2024 was at the PPM level of 139, which 

means 139 bad products per 1,000,000 units delivered, i.e. only 0.0139%. As part of the continuation of the process of 

long-term quality improvement, an automation and robotization department was created in the company, which is 

specially dedicated, among other things, to the detection of hidden defects on products using camera systems, robotic 

lines, etc. This significantly reduced manual handling of components during the production process and minimized the 

risk of internal defects and cracks.  

19. Material and energy consumption  

EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Material consumption   31 062 22 043 

Fuel consumption   121 109 

Energy consumption   2 087 1 574 

Other   104 120 

Total     33 374 23 846 

20. Services 

EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Repair and maintenance of machinery and 
equipment  335 232 

Repair and maintenance of means of transport  117 106 

Services - Consulting, accounting and auditing  276 318 

Services - Rental   229 300 

Services - External product processing  13 072 11 783 

Services - Software   160 207 

Services - Transport   291 216 

Services - Waste removal   61 70 

Services - Workforce provided  0 0 

Other services   711 495 
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Total     15 253 13 726 

 

 
EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Audit of financial 
statements   95 107 

Assurance audit services with the exception of the audit of accounts   
Tax Advisory   4 4 

Other non-audit services      

Total      99 111 

21. Personnel costs 

EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Wages and bonuses   3 973 3 539 

Social and health insurance  1 468 1 267 

Other social costs   203 184 

Total      5 645 4 990 

 

Of which management: 
EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Wages and bonuses   202 175 

Social and health insurance  71 61 

Other social costs       

Total      273 236 

 

22. Other operating result 

EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Profit / (loss) from the sale of assets  -21 69 

Insurance   111 41 

Provision for receivables  -7 -6 

Other operating expenses  37 24 

Other operating income   -473 -401 

Total      -354 -274 

 

23. Financial operations  

EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Financial returns     
Interest income   43 80 

Exchange rate gains   348 394 

Total financial returns   391 475 

      
Financial costs     
Interest - leasing   -284 -255 

Interest Loans   -2 152 -2 102 

Interest on bonds   -2 342 -1 257 

Exchange rate losses   -21 -366 

Bank fees   -78 -69 

Other costs of financial activity  -320 -319 

Total financial costs   -5 197 -4 369 

      
Profit/(loss) arising from financial operations, 
net   -4 806 -3 894 

 

 

24. Income tax and deferred tax   
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EUR thousand     31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Income tax payable   294 287 

Deferred income tax   1 959 889 

Total     2 253 1 176 

 

 

Effective tax 
EUR thousand     31.12.2024   31.12.2023   

Profit before tax     6 040   5 006   

        
Income tax   1 268 21% 1 051 21% 

        
Tax-deductible costs   141 2% 126 3% 

Non-taxable income       
Impact of unreported deferred tax assets      
Utilisation of tax losses       
Tax rate change   815 13%   
Other   29 0% -2  

Total income tax     2 253 37% 1 176 24% 

 
 

Movements of deferred tax liability (net) during the period 2024-2023 

 

EUR thousand     

  1.1.2024 
Recognised in 
the Profit and 
Loss Account 

Recognised in 
other 

comprehensive 
income 

  31.12.2024 

Tax expenses after 
payment    -7 -9   -16 

Stock    -3 -25   -28 

Reserves    -27 12   -15 

Accounts payable    0 0   0 

NFP subsidy    -387 -86   -473 

Other, non-tax-deductible costs        

Fixed assets    5 172 2 068   7 240 

Deferred tax liability reported      4 748 1 969     6 707 

         

         

EUR thousand     

  1.1.2023 
Recognised in 
the Profit and 
Loss Account 

Recognised in 
other 

comprehensive 
income 

  31.12.2023 

Tax expenses after 
payment    -5 -2   -7 

Stock    -14 11   -3 

Reserves    -9 -18   -27 

Accounts payable    0 0   0 

NFP subsidy    -345 -42   -387 

Other, non-tax-deductible costs   0 0   0 

Fixed assets    4 232 939   5 172 

Deferred tax liability reported      3 859 889     4 748 
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25. Fair value data 

The following overview contains data on the carrying amount and fair value of the Company's financial assets and 

liabilities that are not recognised at fair value:  

 

   Book value Book value 
Fair Value Fair Value 

EUR thousand   31.12.2024 31.12.2023 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Financial commitments      
Bonds Issued (evel 2)  37 955 18 529 40 047 19 437 

Long-term loans (level 3)  30 040 30 064 29 336 28 982 

Total    67 996 48 593 69 383 48 419 

 

Level 1 - fair value determined on the basis of quoted prices offered on active markets for identical assets; 

Level 2 - fair value determined using input-based calculation models that are observable, either directly or indirectly, in 

active markets; 

Level 3 - fair value determined using calculation models based on inputs that are not observable, either directly or 

indirectly, in active markets. 

 

 

The table does not list financial instruments for which the carrying amount is considered to be an approximation of fair 

value. 

26. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities 

 

EUR thousand     
1.1.2024 

Increment / 
Drawdown 

Repayment Interest   Other 31.12.2024 

Loans and credits   54 643 1 502 -10 951 2 144   173 47 511 

Lease liabilities   916 39  -516  284  -353 370 

Bonds issued   18 529 30 000 -12 187                      2 517    -902 37 956 

Total liabilities from financial 
assets   74 087 31 541 -23 653 4 944   -1 082 85 837 

          

EUR thousand     
1.1.2023 

Increment / 
Drawdown 

Repayment Interest   Other 31.12.2023 

Loans and credits   44 372 15 325 -7 287  2 103   130 54 643 

Lease liabilities   1 307                            85  -316 255  -415  916 

Bonds issued   18 659  -1 285 1 257    -102 18 529 

Total liabilities from financial 
assets   64 337 15 410 -8 888 3 616   -387 74 087 

 

 

27. Information on financial risk management 

This section provides details of the risks to which the Company is exposed and how to manage them. The company is 

exposed to risk in the following areas: 

- credit risk 

- liquidity risk 

- currency risk 

- interest rate risk 

Management has overall responsibility for determining and controlling the Company's risk management. 
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Credit risk 

The Company is exposed to this risk primarily in trade receivables and other receivables. The amount of exposure to this risk 

is expressed by the carrying amount of these assets on the balance sheet in the event that no form of guarantee is issued. The 

carrying amount of receivables reflects the highest possible accounting loss that would have to be accounted for in the event 

that the counterparty completely defaults on its contractual obligations and all collateral and guarantees are zero. This value 

therefore far exceeds the expected losses contained in the provision for overdue receivables. Before concluding significant 

contracts, the Company's management evaluates the credit risk associated with the counterparty at its regular meetings. In the 

event of identification of significant risks, the Company will not proceed to the conclusion of the contract. 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company was exposed to the following credit risk: 

EUR thousand      
Banks 

Other 
Financial 

Institutions 

Other legal 
entities 

Total 

Financial assets         

Trade receivables    33 263 33 263 

Cash and cash equivalents  2 607   2 607 

Other receivables       0 

Total      2 607 0 33 263 35 870 

As at 31 December 2023, the Company was exposed to the following credit risk: 

EUR thousand      
Banks 

Other 
Financial 

Institutions 

Other legal 
entities 

Total 

Financial assets         

Trade receivables    29 907 29 907 

Cash and cash equivalents  2 676   2 676 

Other receivables       0 

Total      2 676 0 29 907 32 582 

 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk arises as part of the general financing of the Company's activities and the management of financial positions. 

It includes the risk of not being able to finance the asset at the agreed maturity and interest rate, as well as the risk of not 

being able to realise the asset at a reasonable price within a reasonable timeframe. The Company's management focuses 

on liquidity management and monitoring.  

The following table provides an analysis of the Company's financial assets and liabilities grouped by residual maturity. 

This analysis represents the most conservative variant of residual maturities, including the inclusion of interest based on 

contractual terms. Therefore, in the case of liabilities, the earliest possible repayment is reported and the latest possible 

repayment for assets.  

As of December 31, 2024, the Company's financial assets and liabilities had the following maturities: 

EUR thousand     
Less than 1 year 

1 - 5 
years 

5 years 
and 

more 
Total Book value 

Financial assets          

Trade receivables  33 263   33 263 33 263 

Cash and cash equivalents  2 607   2 607 2 607 

Other receivables      0   

Total      35 870 0 0 35 870 35 870 

        

EUR thousand     
Less than 1 year 

1 - 5 
years 

5 years 
and 

more 
Total Book value 

Financial liabilities          

Bonds   2 486 47 934  50 420 37 956 

Loans and credits   13 787 36 236 0 50 023 47 511 
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Lease liabilities   261 337  598 370 

Trade Payables  24 426   24 426 24 426 

Other short-term liabilities   1 358   1 358 1 358 

Total     44 000 82 918 0 126 918 111 621 

 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company's financial assets and liabilities had the following maturities: 

EUR thousand     

Less than 1 
year 

1 - 5 
years 

5 years 
and more 

Total Book value 

Financial assets          

Trade receivables  29 907   29 907 29 907 

Cash and cash equivalents  2 676   2 676 2 676 

Other receivables      0   

Total      32 582 0 0 32 582 32 583 

               

EUR thousand     

Less than 1 
year 

1 - 5 
years 

5 years 
and more 

Total Book value 

Financial commitments          

Bonds   10 934 11 126 0 22 060 18 529 

Loans and credits   18 604 41 009 0 59 613 54 643 

Lease liabilities   389 559  949 916 

Trade Payables  19 971   19 971 19 971 

Other short-term liabilities   2 266   2 266 2 266 

Total      52 163 52 694 0 104 858 96 325 

 

Currency Risk and Sensitivity Analysis for Foreign Currency Instruments 

Currency risk is the risk of a change in the value of an enterprise's assets and liabilities due to a change in the exchange 

rate. The Company is exposed to currency risk mainly due to purchases in the USD currency. 

 

Value of assets and liabilities in the purchase currency as at 31.12.2024: 

EUR thousand 31.12.2024     

USD CZK 

Profit (loss) in 
case of an 

increase in the 
exchange rate 

by 100bp 

Profit (loss) 
in case of a 
100bp rate 

drop 
Total 

Financial assets         

Trade receivables  664  -7 7 664 

Cash and cash equivalents  2 540    2 540 

Other receivables       0 

Total      3 205  -7 7 3 205 

               

EUR thousand 31.12.2024     USD CZK    Total 

Financial commitments          

Bonds    7 955 80 -80 7 955 

Loans and credits       0 

Lease liabilities       0 

Trade Payables  112 52 2 -2 164 

Other short-term liabilities       0 

Total      112 8 007 82 -82 8 119 
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Value of assets and liabilities in the purchase currency as at 31.12.2023: 

EUR thousand 31.12.2023     

USD CZK 

Profit 
(loss) in 
case of 

an 
increase 

in the 
exchang
e rate by 

100bp 

Profit 
(loss) in 
case of a 

100bp 
rate drop 

Total 

Financial assets         

Trade receivables  882 0 -9 9 882 

Cash and cash equivalents  2 317  -23 23 2 317 

Other receivables       0 

Total      3 199 0 -32 32 3 199 

               

EUR thousand 31.12.2023     

USD CZK 

Profit 
(loss) in 
case of 

an 
increase 

in the 
exchang
e rate by 

100bp 

Profit (loss) 
in case of a 
100bp rate 

drop 

Total 

Financial commitments          

Bonds    8 412 83 -83 8 412 

Loans and credits       0 

Lease liabilities       0 

Trade Payables  49 98 2 -2 147 

Other short-term liabilities       0 

Total      49 8 510 85 -85 8 559 

 

 

Interest rate risk 

The Company's operations are exposed to the risk of changes in interest rates. The amount of this risk is equal to the amount 

of interest-bearing assets and interest-bearing liabilities for which the interest rate at maturity or at the time of change is different 

from the current interest rate. Therefore, the period during which a fixed interest rate is set for a financial instrument reflects the 

period during which the Company is exposed to the risk of changes in interest rates. The overview below reflects the Company's 

exposure to the risk of changes in interest rates based on the contractual maturity of financial instruments. 

As of December 31, 2024, as of December 31, 2023, the Company has the following assets and liabilities related to the 
interest rate: 

EUR thousand    
Interest rate p.a. in 

% 
31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Fixed interest rate       

GEVORKYAN CZ  4.80% 30 040 30 064 

BKS Bank AG  1.90% 1 033 1 433 

GEVORKYAN 4.70/2024  4.70% 0 10 118 

GEVORKYAN 8.502028  8.50% 7 955 8 412 

GEVORKYAN 7.11/2029  7.11% 30 000 0 

SACMI  1.95% 0 140 
Sales & leaseback 
transactions  

 
5 661 6 829 

Total     74 690 56 996 
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EUR thousand    Interest rate p.a. in % 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

Variable interest rate    
Komerční banka, a. s.  

 
3M EURIBOR + 2.30% 788 1 838 

Komerční banka, a. s.   3M EURIBOR + 2.30% 1 139 1 979 

Komerční banka, a. s.   1M EURIBOR + 2.00% 2 048 870 

Unicredit bank Czech Republic and 
Slovakia a.s. 

 1M EURIBOR + 2.60% 6 177 11 489 

 Komerční banka, a. s.  3M EURIBOR + 2% 182 0 

Komerční banka, a. s.  3M EURIBOR + 2% 443 0 

     

Total      10 776 16 176 

Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates would have the following impact on profit or loss and cash flow sensitivity:  

      Profit (loss) 

EUR thousand 31.12.2024   100 bb incease 100 bp drop 

Variable interest rate instruments -117 117 

Impact     0 0 

     
      Profit (loss) 

EUR thousand 31.12.2023   100 bb increase 100 bp drop 

Variable interest rate instruments -171 171 

Impact     -171 171 

The Company's interest-bearing liabilities are remunerated at a variable interest rate referring to EURIBOR. The company 

considers variable interest rate to be self-management of interest rate risk. When there is economic expansion, EURIBOR 

grows, but at the same time the economic performance of the population grows and the company has better sales and profits. 

When there is an economic recession, it behaves exactly the opposite.  

In the previous period, when EURIBOR was negative, the variable interest component of the total interest rate did not affect the 

profit or loss and cash flow sensitivity, as according to loan agreements, the value of EURIBOR is then taken at the level of 0%. 

In the current period, EURIBOR is achieving positive values, and therefore a decrease by 100 basis points in interest rates 

would have an impact on the economic result and cash flow sensitivity. 

28. Related parties  

Identification of related parties 

As set out in the following overview,  the Company is related to its shareholders who have  substantial influence in the 

Company as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, or during the period from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 

2024. 
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Information on the economic relationships between the entity and related parties: 

 

 

   

Trade 
type 
code 

Value expression of trade 

EUR thousand    
31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

GPM Tools, s.r.o.         

Revenues from own products (revenue) 2 16 106 12 213 

Revenues from the sale of services (revenue) 3 6 219 5 829 

Revenues from the sale of intangible fixed assets and tangible fixed assets 
(revenue) 

2 151 0 

Revenues from the sale of unnecessary materials (revenue) 2 0 1 

Purchase of fixed assets  
1 17 427 13 779 

Buying Inventory  
1 6 507 5 525 

Procurement of services and other costs (cost) 1 1 332 1 273 

Gevorkyan CZ, s.r.o.         

Interest expense of borrowing (expense) 8 1 392 1 478 

Borrowing fees (expense) 8     

 

 

    
Value expression of trade 

EUR thousand    31.12.2024 31.12.2023 

GPM Tools, s.r.o.         

Trade receivables  11 752 9 161 

Trade payables  5 323 3 733 

Gevorkyan CZ, s.r.o.         

Other liabilities     30 040 30 087 

29. Events that occurred after the date on which the financial statements are prepared  

After 31 December 2024, no other events occurred that would require disclosure or recognition in the financial 

statements for 2024. 

30. Capital liabilities and capital management  

 

The Company's management approaches capital management in order to ensure a sufficient amount of funds for the 

planned investments in the period for which the investments were planned, if necessary in cooperation with the use of 

bank loans and bonds.  

For more information on the bonds issued, see Section 13 – Bonds issued. 

 

For more information on the loans received, see Section 12 – Loans and credits. 

 

The provisions of Slovak law apply to the use of the statutory reserve fund. For more information, see Section 11 – Equity. 

 

The Company is not subject to any external capital management requirements. 

 

During the period from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024, there were no changes in the Company's management's 

approach to capital management. 

31. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 
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Given that many areas of Slovak tax law have not yet been sufficiently verified in practice, there is uncertainty as to how 

the tax authorities will apply them. The degree of this uncertainty cannot be quantified and will only disappear once legal 

precedents or official interpretations by the competent authorities are available.  
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Declaration of the responsible person of the issuer GEVORKYAN, a.s. 
 

The Issuer's Responsible Person declares that, to the best of its knowledge, the financial 

statements of GEVORKYAN, as. for the financial year 2024 
(as at 31.12.2024), which has been prepared in accordance with special regulations, a true 

and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and economic performance of the 

entity 
and companies included in the overall consolidation and the report contains a true and fair 

view of the development and results of the business and position of the issuer and the 

companies included in the overall consolidation, together with a description of the principal 

risks and uncertainties that it faces. 

The responsible person of the issuer also declares that there are no agreements concluded 

between it and members of its bodies or employees on the basis of which compensation is to 

be provided to others. if their office or employment is terminated by the termination of the 

shareholding, twrmination by the employee, by their dismissal, by the employer without giving 

any reason. 

 
Name and surname of the responsible person: Dipl. Ing. Artur Gevorkyan 

Function of the responsible person: Chairman of the Board of Directors 

 

 
In Vlkanova on 28.04.2025 

 
 

Dipl. Ing. Artur Gevorkyan 



 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Report of the unconverted auditor 

 
To the shareholders, the Supervisory Board and the Management Board of GEVORKYAN. a.s.. 

 
Message from the audit report 

Opinion 

We have audited the individual financial statements of GEVORKYAN, a.s. ("the Company"), which comprise the 
individual statement of financial position as at 31 December 2007. December 2024, the individual statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, the individual statement of changes in equity, the individual 
statement of cash for the year  ended, and notes to the financial statements, which comprise significant accounting 
policies and methods of accounting and other explanatory . 

In our , the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of the Company as at 31 December 2024, and of its  performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European . 

 

The basis for the opinion 

The audit was carried out in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA). Our responsibility under 
those standards is set out in the paragraph Auditor's responsibility for the audit of individual financial statements. 
The Company is not required to comply with the provisions of Act . 423/2015 on Statutory Audit and on 
Amendments Act No. 431/2002 Coll. and the Accounting Act,  amended, relating to ethics, including the Auditor's 
Code of Ethics, relevant to our audit of the individual financial statements, and we have complied with the 
other requirements of these regulations relating to ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have compiled 
provides a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion. 

Key audit engagements 

The audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, are the most significant in our audit of the 
current period's individual financial statements. We addressed these matters in connection with our audit of the 
individual financial statements as a whole and in formulating our opinion on Au, but we do not provide a   
recommendation on them. 

 

Revenue reporting 

Costs are charged to the date of delivery or 
performance of the service. They are also reduced 
by gains and losses (rebates, bonuses, discounts, 
credit notes, etc.). 

Revenue recognition is a key audit matter because 
of the complexity of the markets, the complex criteria 
for recognising them and the significance of their 
value. 

 

 
Our audit procedures included an assessment of 
the adequacy of the Company's accounting 
policies for revenue recognition and an 
assessment of compliance with IFRS. We 
evaluated and tested the set-up and effective 
operation of controls in the  process. 



 

 

 
 
 
 

 
We have performed a market analysis based on our 
knowledge of the industry for external customers. 

For transactions close to the  date, we assessed 
whether the transactions were recognised in the correct 
accounting period. We selected a sample of sales that 
included invoices with a significant value issued close 
to the  date. We assessed the consistency of these 
sales with the contracts or other supporting 
documents that evidenced when the obligations of the 
parties to the transaction were fulfilled. 

We also assessed whether they were accounted for in 
the correct accounting using a sample of significant 
credit notes issued at the reporting date. 

We obtained confirmations selected customers as of 
December 31, 2024 and reconciled the values to 
the Company's accounting records. 

We have also assessed the adequacy of the 
Company's disclosures in relation to the 
accounting policies relating to the recognition of 
claims, which are discussed in paragraph 2.q) Claims 
of the notes to the financial statements, and whether 
they are consistent with IFRS. 

 

Rectification component to assessable rights 

As at 31 December 2024, the residual carrying amount 
of the appreciated assets in the powder metallurgy 
and metal injection moulding business was EUR 
10,507 thousand. 

The Company's accounting method for assessing the 
potential impairment of the valuation rights is to 
assess the existence of indicators of impairment 
on an annual basis based on an updated sales 
forecast. If indicators of impairment are identified, 
the Company prepares a valuation allowance against 
the valuation . 

 

 
Our audit procedures included an assessment of 
the appropriateness of the Company's accounting 
policies in relation to valuation assumptions and an 
assessment of compliance with IFRS. 

During the audit of the financial statements, we 
obtained an updated forecast of sales of Spolokosü 
and assessed whether there were indicators of 
impairment of the other assets. 

In our audit procedures, we have used the nature of 
our valuation models to support assessment of the 
assumptions and the validity of the model, which 
calculates the value of the valuation 

 
We also assessed the adequacy of the Company's 
disclosures in relation to accounting estimates 
relating to the valuation of the 



 

 

 
 
 

 

The valuation allowance was accrued for audit matters 
due to the composition of the calculation, 
management's significant judgement in 
determining expected revenues, the royalty and 
discount factor and the dependence on future 
business development 

 
Compliance with the debt covenant 

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the 
debt (bonds and loans)  which the Company has to 
redeem the covenants was EUR 49 765 thousand. 

Long-term loans, short-term loans and bonds are 
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 
. The portions of long-term loans and bonds that mature 
within one year of the balance sheet date and long-term 
loans and bonds for the company has not met its 
covenants at the balance date are also recognised as 
current. 

Because of the significance of the balance of bonds 
and bank loans on which the Company must meet 
covenants, we consider this fact to be a key  matter. 

referred to in paragraph 2.2 Intangible assets of the 
notes to the financial statements and whether they 
comply IFRSs. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Our audit procedures included assessing the 
adequacy of the Company's accounting policies in 
relation to long-term loans, short-term loans and bonds 
and assessing compliance with IFRS. 

We received confirmations from banks as of 31 
December 2024 and reconciled the values with the 
accounting records of the Company. 

We reviewed the loan agreements and bond terms 
to assess whether the covenants were taken into 
account in assessing the Company's compliance 
with its debt covenants. 

We have recalculated and assessed compliance 
with the debt covenants at the date of the financial 
statements. 

 
We have also assessed the Company's 
proportionality of the disclosures in relation to the 
accounting policies relating to long-term borrowings, 
short-term borrowings and bonds referred to in 
paragraph 2.(n) Commitments of the notes to the 
financial statements as to whether they comply with 
IFRS and the Company's disclosure requirements 
in respect of debt covenants as set out in paragraph 12 - 
Loans and borrowings and paragraph 13 - . 

 
Responsibility of the authority for the individual selection of the following 

The statutory is responsible for the preparation of these separate financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the 
European Union and for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

When preparing the individual financial statements, the statutory body is responsible for assessing the 
Company's ability to continue as  going concern, for describing the facts relating to going , if , and for 
applying the going concern basis of accounting unless he or intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 



 

 

 
 
 
 

 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's responsibility for the audit of individual accounts 

Our responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the individual financial statements taken as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, due to fraud or error, and to issue an audit report, including an audit 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not assurance that an audit performed in 
accordance with international auditing standards will always detect material misstatements, if any. 
Misstatements may arise from fraud or error and are considered material if they reasonably be expected, 
individually or in the aggregate, to affect the economic decisions of users  on the  of these separate financial 
statements, 

As part of an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise sound 
judgement and maintain pro forma scepticism throughout the audit. In : 

• We identify and assess risksmaterial misstatement of the individual financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures to address those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit. The risk of non-detection of a material 
misstatement due to fraud is higher than this risk due to error, because fraud may involve collusion, 
deception, deliberate omission. misrepresentation or circumvention of an internal control. 

• We become familiar with the internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but also for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company's internal controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of the accounting estimates used and the appropriateness of the 
accounting  and related made by the statutory body. 

• We  the statutory body appropriately uses the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or that may cast 
significant doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw the auditor's attention in our report to related disclosures in 
the separate financial statements or, if those disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
reports are based on audit evidence obtained up to the date of issuance of our auditor's report. 
However, future events or circumstances may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

• We evaluate the fair presentation, structure and content of the individual financial statements, including 
the information presented in them, and whether the individual financial statements capture the 
transactions and events in a manner  gives a fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance on, among other things, the planned scope and timetable 
of the audit and any significant audit findings, including any significant internal control weaknesses that we 
identify during the next audit. 

We also provide assurances to the Trustees that we have complied with the relevant requirements relating to 
integrity and communicate with them about all relationships and other facts that may reasonably be 
considered to have an impact on the existence of an integrity issue, as well as about any steps taken to eliminate 
related threats or the application of protective measures. 



 

 

 
 

 
Of the facts communicated to those charged with governance, let us identify those that were most relevant to the 
audit of the current period's individual financial statements and are therefore key audit matters. 

We will disclose these matters in our auditor's report unless the disclosure is precluded by law or regulation , in 
extremely rare , we decide a particular matter should not be included in our report because it is reasonable to expect 
that the adverse consequences of disclosing it would outweigh the public benefit of disclosing it. 

 

Report on further requirements of the implementation and other legal regulations 

The statutory body is responsible for the information contained in the annual report, drawn up in 
accordance with the requirements of Act No. 431/2002 Coll. and Accounting Act as amended (hereinafter 
referred to as 'the Act'). Our above-mentioned template for individual financial statements does not apply to other 
information in the annual report. 

In connection with the audit of the separate financial statements, it is our  to review information presented in the 
annual report and to consider whether such information is materially inconsistent with the audited separate financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit of the separate financial statements or otherwise 
appears to be materially inconsistent. 

We have assessed the information required by the Accounting Act to be included in the annual report of the 
Company. 

Based on the procedures performed during the audit of the individual financial statements, in our opinion: 

- the information presented in the annual report for is  with the individual financial statements for that year, 

- the annual report contains information according to the Accounting Act. 

In addition, based on our knowledge of the entity and the strength of the entity that we have obtained in the 
course of our audit of the separate financial statements, we are required to state whether we have identified 
any material misstatements in the annual report that we received before the date of this auditor's report. There 
are no assurances that we should provide in this regard. 

Report on the independent verification of the consistency of the presentation of the financial statements with 
the requirements of the European Single Electronic Reporting Format (.ESEF') 

We have been engaged by the Company to perform an engagement to provide assurance on the consistency 
of the presentation of the Company's separate financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024, 
which form part of the annual financial report (.Presentation of the separate financial statements"), with the 
requirements of Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2010/815 of 17 December 2018 supplementing 
Directive 2004/109/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council (EU) as regards regulatory technical 
standards on the specification of a single electronic reporting format "ESEF° Regulation"). 

Description of the subject of the contract and identification of criteria 

The Statutory Body has applied the Presentation of the Separate Financial Statements in order to comply 
with the requirements of the ESEF Regulation. The relevant requirements relating to the Presentation of the 
Separate Financial Statements are contained in the ESEF Regulation and the ESEF. 



 

 

 
8uiBing a better 

 
 
 

 
The requirements for the presentation of individual financial statements set out in the preceding paragraph are, in 
our view, appropriate criteria from which a conclusion can be drawn with reasonable assurance. 

Responsibility of the statutory body and of the persons entrusted with its management 

The Statutory Body is responsible for the Presentation of the Individual Financial Statements, which complies with 
the requirements of the ESEF Regulation. This responsibility includes: 

• the preparation of individual financial statements in XHTML; and 
• design, implement and maintain internal controls relevant to the Presentation of the Separate Financial 

Statements that do not contain significant f*Iein accordance with the requirements of the ESEF 
Framework. 

 
The persons charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting 
process, including the preparation of the individual financial statements, which also comply the requirements of the 
ESEF Regulation. 

Auditor's responsibilities 

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion, with reasonable  as to whether the Presentation of the Separate 
Financial Statements complies, in all material respects, with the requirements of the ESEF Regulation. 

We performed the engagement providing reasonable assurance in accordance International Standard on 
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), "Engagements for Assurance Services Other Than Audits or Reviews of 
Historical Financial Information" ("ISAE 3000(R)"), which was issued by the International and Assurance Standards 
Board ("IAASB"). In  with this standard, we are required to comply with the relevant ethical requirements and to 
design and perform procedures to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Presentation of the 
Individual Financial Statements complies, in all material respects, with the requirements of the Regulation and 
the ESEF. 

The nature, timing and extent of the procedures performed depended on the auditor's judgement. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that a service performed in accordance with ISAE 3000(R) will always 
disclose a material nonconformity. 

Qualification check and auditor independence requirements 

We apply the provisions of International  Management Standard 1 (issued by the IAASB) and maintain a 
comprehensive quality control system, including documented policies and procedures that address compliance with 
ethical and professional standards, as well as related legal and regulatory 
requirements. 

We comply with the independence requirements and other ethical principles of the International of Ethics for 
Accounting Professionals (including the International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants. This Code is based on the fundamental principles of integrity, objectivity, 
professional competence and due care, confidentiality and professional conduct. 

Interpretation of the procedures performed 

Our planning and performing procedures were designed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
Presentation of the Separate Financial Statements complies, in all material respects, with the requirements of the 
ESEF Regulation. Our procedures have included the following: 



 

 

 
 

 
• familiarisation with the internal control systems and processes relevant to the use of the ectronic reporting 

format for individual financial statements, including the return of the XHTML format; and 

• verify that the XHTML format has been used correctly. 

We are satisfied that the evidence we have obtained provides a sufficient and appropriate basis for our . 

Conclusion 

In our , based on our procedures, the Presentation of the separate financial statements complies in all material 
respects with the requirements of the ESEF Regulation. 

 
Requirements for the content of the auditor's report in the sense of Regulation (EC) No 537/2014 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council of 16 April 2014 on the absolute requirements concerning the statutory audit of public-
interest entities.  

 
Appointment and approval of the auditor 

We were appointed as Statutory Auditors by the Company's statutory body on 30 September 2024 following our 
approval by the Company's Annual General Meeting on 21 June 2024. The total uninterrupted period of our 
engagement, including previous engagement renewals (prior to the period for which we were originally appointed) 
and our subsequent appointments as Statutory Auditors, is 9 years. 

 

Consistency with the additional report to the audit committee 

The auditor's opinion to this report is consistent with the supplemental report prepared for the audit committee of 
Company, which we issued on the same date as the date of this report. 

Non-audit services 

The non-authorised services referred to in Article 5(1) of Regulation (EC)of the European Parliament and of the 
Council have not been provided. 537/2014 of  April 2014 and the specific requirements relating to Statutory Audit 
of Public Interest Entities and we have sent an independent audit report to the Company. 

Other than the services of the Company's audit firm and the services disclosed in the annual report and the separate 
financial statements, we have not provided any other to the Company, 

 
30 April 2025 
Bratislava, Slovak Republic 

Ernst & Young Slovakia, spol. s r.o.  
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